
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA 

January 21, 2025 at 10:00 AM 

Commissioners Meeting Room - 401 Main Street, Suite 309, Walsenburg, CO 81089 

Office: 719-738-3000 ex 200 | Fax: 719-738-3996 

 

 

9:00 AM - WORKSHOP 

County Administration Workshop 

9:30 AM - COMMISSIONER'S STUDY SESSION 

10:00 AM - PUBLIC MEETING 

Join via Google Meet: https://meet.google.com/pfy-merc-xoc | Meeting ID: pfy-merc-xoc 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. January 14, 2025 Meeting Minutes 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

5. APPOINTMENTS 

a. Special Recognition Jim VanLue 

b. Two Peaks Fitness Opioid Funds Proposal 

c. Chelsea Meece, Systems Coordinator for Coalition for the Unhoused/Keep Trinidad Safe  

6. PERMITS, LICENCES, AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a. Final Approval Huerfano Carbon Sequestration Project CUP 23-015 and Certificate of 

Designation Application 

7. ACTION ITEMS 

a. Overtime request from HC Human Services 

b. Grant Administration Service Agreement Southern Colorado Economic Development District 

c. Approval to Accept Colorado Tourism Office Marketing Grant 

d. January 2025 Vendor Run  

e. HCED Facade Improvement Request 

f. 2023 Huerfano County, Colorado Financial Statements 
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g. Huerfano County Treasurers Semi-Annual Report 2024 

h. Treasurers Huerfano County Treasurers Annual Report 2024 

8. CORRESPONDENCE 

a. Navajo Western Water District 2025 Transparency Notice  

b. Upper Huerfano Fire Protection District 2025 Transparency Notice 

c. Leave Balances for 12/29/24 through 1/11/25  

d. CTSI Technical Update: Understanding Workplace Posters State and Federal Requirements 

e. CTSI Technical Update: The Power of Pooling for County Success 

f. CTSI Technical Update: Cyber Security Insights, Protecting Privileged Information 

g. CAPP Reports for December 2024 

9. STAFF REPORTS 

a. County Administrator 

b. County Attorney 

10. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

12. UPCOMING MEETINGS 

a. 11AM - Board of Human Services 

b. 1PM - Workshop with Mountain Disposal 

c. 1:30 - Workshop with Mission Team Impact 

d. 2PM - Workshop with HC Sheriff's Office 

e. 3:30PM - Workshop on Advocacy and Grant Writing 

Huerfano County wants to ensure that everyone has equal access to our programs, activities, and 

services. To request an Americans with Disability Act (ADA) accommodation, please call 719-738-3000 

x200. Submit your request as early as possible, and no later than two business days before the event. 
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BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS MEETING MINUTES 

January 14, 2025 at 10:00 AM 

Commissioners Meeting Room - 401 Main Street, Suite 309, Walsenburg, CO 81089 

Office: 719-738-3000 ex 200 | Fax: 719-738-3996 

 

 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chairman Sporleder called the meeting to order followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. Chairman 

Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain and Commissioner Wardell were present 

2. SWEARING IN CEREMONY 

Judge Clay McKisson conducted the official swearing in ceremony for both Mitchell Wardell and 

Jim Chamberlain 

3. ELECTION OF THE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 

Commissioner Karl Sporleder was elected Chairman to the board and Commissioner Mitchell 

Wardell was elected Vice Chairman 

4. RECESS 

 Motion to recess at 10:08.      

 Motion made by Chairman Sporleder 

       Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

 Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

 Motion Passes 

5. AGENDA APPROVAL 

 Motion to approve the agenda as presented.      

 Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

       Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

 Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

 Motion Passes 

6. CONSENT AGENDA 

 Motion to approve the consent agenda as presented.      

 Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

       Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

 Discussion: Commissioner Chamberlain recused himself from the December 17th and the 

December 31st Minutes 

 Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

 Motion Passes 
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a. Minutes from the December 17 BOCC Meeting 

b. Minutes from the December 31 BOCC Meeting 

c. Chris Bechaver Sick Leave Donation 

d. Lester Berry Sick Leave Donation 

e. Anthony Luginbill Sick Leave Donation 

f. Robert Gilbert Sick Leave Donation 

g. Spencer Butler Resignation 

h. Savannah Horton Resignation 

i. Cecilia Kelly Resignation 

j. Tre'von Perry Resignation 

k. Miriam Rodriguez Resignation 

7. PUBLIC COMMENt 

1. Mary Jensen discussed item h. in correspondence her paper on the danger of cell towers, 5g and 

EMF.  

2. Judy Sims discussed item h. in correspondence and urged the Board to take legislative action. 

3. Sam Law also discussed item h. and the dangers of EMF near residential areas.  

 

8. APPOINTMENTS 

NONE 

9. PERMITS, LICENCES, AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a. Bulk Water Permit #24-0010 for Kathryn Stannard 

        Motion to approve Bulk Water Permit #24-0010 for Kathryn Stannard for vacant property 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

b. Bulk Water Permit #24-0011 for Michael Frankfield 

                Motion to approve Bulk Water Permit #24-0011 for Michael Frankfield permit not   

      transferred with purchase 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

       Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

       Motion Passes 

10. ACTION ITEMS 

a. Resolution #25-01 Office Hours and Holidays for Huerfano County 2025 

       Motion to approve Resolution #25-01 Holidays Observed during 2025 for Huerfano  

     County with the change adding Christmas Eve as a day off, removing New    

     Year’s Eve from the calendar.  

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 
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b. Resolution #25-02 Designating the Paper of Record 

      Motion to approve Resolution #25-02 Designating the World Journal as the Paper of   

        Record for Huerfano County 2025. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

c. Resolution #25-03 to Appoint Jim Chamberlain for HC Asset Management 

    Motion to approve Resolution #25-03 to Appoint Jim Chamberlain for Huerfano County 

    Asset Management 2025 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

d. Resolution #25-04 Huerfano County Fund Depositories 

       Motion to approve Resolution #25-04 for Huerfano County Depositories 2025 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

e. Resolution #25-05 Appoint Paul Smith Planning Commission 

Motion to approve Resolution #25-05 to Appoint Paul Smith to Huerfano Counties 

Planning Commission from December 31st 2024 through December 31st 2027. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

f. P.O. #2025-09 for South Central COG. 

Motion to approve Purchase Order #2025-09 for South Central Council of Government in 

the amount of $7,500 yearly. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

g. P.O. #2025-14 for HCED Annual Contribution 

Motion to approve Purchase Order #2025-14 for Huerfano County Economic Development 

in the amount of $50,000 to be split into 2 payments of $25,000. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 
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h. P.O. #2025-15 for Adams State Foundation 

Motion to approve Purchase Order #2025-15 for Adams State Foundation cozy scholarship 

in the amount of $3483.00 for COZY scholarship match. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

i. Spencer Butler Sick Leave Donation 

Motion to approve Spencer Butler Sick Leave Donation on the condition that only his 

accrued time could be donated.  

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

j. Contract for HC Sheriffs Office Fleet Coordinator 

Motion to approve the Fleet Coordinator Contract between Huerfano County Sheriff’s 

Office and Ben Bounds. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

k. Memorandum of Understanding for Fox Theatre Phase 2 

Motion to approve the Memorandum of Understanding for Fox Theatre Phase 2 with the 

condition of a 60-day payback period and the maximum amount of  

$2,030,352 to be reimbursed.  

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

l. Electric Contracts for 129 Kansas Avenue 

Motion to approve the Electric Contracts for 129 Kansas Avenue in the amount of $44,441.00 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

m. BWR Water Efficiency Grant Approval to Apply 

Motion to approve the BWR Water Efficiency Grant Approval to apply 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 
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n. Quote from Convergint for HC Courthouse Holding Room Door 

Motion to approve the security door lock for Huerfano County Judicial Center Holding room 

door in the 6,335.22 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

o. Judicial Center Custodial Services 2025 Update 

Motion to approve the Judicial Center Custodial Services 2025 Update 2 year Contact in the 

amount of $39,000 between Huerfano County and Leon Gutierrez. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

p. January 2025 Vendor Run 

Motion to approve the January 2025 Vendor Run in the amount of $42,216.95 of which 

$10,024.90 was submitted late. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Chamberlain 

              Second by Commissioner Wardell 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

q. 2025 Designation of Steering Committee Proxies’ 

Motion to approve the 2025 Designation of Steering Committee Proxies. 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

              Second by Commissioner Chamberlain 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

11. CORRESPONDENCE 

Carl Young, County Administrator reviewed correspondence with the BOCC  

a. Leave Balances 12-15-24 and 12-28-24 

b. Bulk Water Monthly Volume Report December 2024 

c. GPID Billing Register December 2024 

d. GPID Systems Totals Report December 2024 

e. Fuel Sales for Spanish Peaks Airport December 2024 

f. Fuel Report for November and December 2024 

g. Notice of Forfeiture Rescinded for Parcel #27421 from The Division of Property Taxation 

h. Position Paper on Cell Towers, Request for Updated Zoning 
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12. STAFF REPORTS 

a. County Administrator 

County Administrator Carl Young discussed an upcoming resolution for committees and asked 

which commissioner would like to take on working with the health department and congratulated 

the BOCC on the outcome of the BOCC vs Solano case.  

 

b. County Attorney 

None 

 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

NONE 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT 

        Motion to adjourn meeting at 11:42 AM 

        Motion made by Commissioner Wardell 

        Second by Commissioner Sporleder 

        Voting Yes: Chairman Sporleder, Commissioner Chamberlain, Commissioner Wardell  

        Motion Passes 

 

 
 

 

Erica Vigil, County Clerk & Recorder 

Clerk to the Board of County Commissioners 
 

 

COMMISSIONERS: 

 

 

 

Karl Sporleder, Chairman 

 

 
 

Jim Chamberlain 

 

 

Mitchell Wardell 
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i~:ks f i t n 8 5 5 
PO Box 905 La Veta CO 81055 

TO: Huerfano Board of County Commissioners 
RE: Opioid Settlement Proposal 

Honorable Commissioners: 

December 13, 2024 

Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to reducing the harms of opioid addiction and Substance Use Disorder {SUD). 
Two Peaks Fitness feels that minimizing the harmful effects of SUD comes not only from education, but also includes action 
of those in the community. Research has shown that Narcan does save lives, but CPR greatly increases survival chances. 

Our vision, our goal, is a two-part process. 

1. To provide CPR training to businesses, organizations, and affected families throughout the county. 
2. To provide a harm reduction program as continued outreach. 

For the first part of this process, CPR classes will be offered to owners, employees, and volunteers of various organizations 
in Huerfano County; as well as to interested individuals, particularly those in families affected by opioid addiction. Once 
completed, Narcan nasal spray will be provided to qualifying brick and mortar businesses and affected families. 

The second part, providing a harm reduction program, needs to be a continued outreach. There are many programs with 
different curriculum that are easily obtained. These programs are geared towards those with SUD, their families, youth, or 
other members of the community. 

The budget for initiating this program is dependent on the number of participants. We suggest we can have 100 people 
certified in CPR, and doses of Narcan in 50 businesses. The break down for initial costs are estimated as*: 

• CPR classes: $30/person @100 people=$3000 

• Narcan for businesses: approx. $40/dose @50 businesses =$2000 
• Fentanyl Field Test Strips {200) and other supplies=$300 
• Adm in. Costs: including but not limited to: facilitator fees @$25/hr (approx. $2000), cost of printing flyers @ $50, 

cost of guest speaker= estimated $1,000 

Total: $8,350 

* Note that this is probably a low-cost estimate until we have a better sense of the demand for CPR certification, Norean 
and field test strips, and facilitator-required time. 

The proposed project will start immediately after County approval and availability of funds. Initial activities will consist of 
contacting businesses and families, and signing up participants. CPR classes would be offered at the Huerfano County 
Community Center. Depending on the CPR instructor's schedule, we hope to start classes this winter, with Narcan doses 
available shortly after completing CPR training. 
We look forward to any questions and input. 

Thank you, 

/;~~ 
President and Chairman 

Shane Clouse 
Facilitator 
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JANUARY 29TH-31ST

HUERFANO COUNTYHUERFANO COUNTY
POINT IN TIME COUNTPOINT IN TIME COUNT

The Pit count aims to provide a snapshot of the individuals and

families experiencing homelessness in the county on a single night

303-909-6340 chelseam@keeptrinidadsafe.com
To volunteer or if you have
questions, contact Chelsea at:

When & Where to Participate:
Wednesday, January 29th from 12-2pm
Huerfano County Community Center

Who Can Participate in the Count?
Anyone who is Unsheltered: Living in their car, a tent,
at the parks, on the streets AND anyone who is in
transitional housing or an emergency shelter

survey

participants

will receive a

$10 gift card

and goodie bag!928 Russell Street - Walsenburg
Friday, January 31st from 1-3pm
at Dorca’s Circle Food Pantry  
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Huerfano County Land Use and
Building Department

401 Main St

Walsenburg, CO 81089

(719) 738-1220, x506

LU-23-015 Conditional Use Permit §1.06
SITE ADDRESS: CO RD 351 # 01940 ISSUED: 06/13/2023
PROJECT NAME: Wood Preservation Site EXPIRES: 

PARCEL: 41244
PERMIT INFO:
Ray Bongiovanni of Woodstone Holdings, LLC, in cooperation with Serge Bushman of Wood Cache PBC a Kansas company, propose to bury raw,
untreated wood in a series of pits on approximately 17 acres of Parcel 41244 to sequester carbon as a commercial project.   This builds on our pilot
program, burying our own wood on our own land on another property.  We are approaching the project in multiple seasonal/annual phases.  Our initial
phase will utilize approximately 2 acres of the 60-acre lot.  Specifically, we are planning a pit up to 20’ deep.  Wood will be collected and stored on the 2
acres until sufficient material has been gathered to commence excavation operations.   Excavation operations will be done swiftly to dig each pit, place
the wood inside according to approved Engineering specifications, and then cap and revegetate.  Excavating times will be infrequent, bi-monthly, or
quarterly, and would not exceed 2 weeks at a time dependent on weather.   We are submitting 2 applications

APPLICANT: Bongiovanni, Ramon OWNER: Ramon and Nancy Bongiovanni
4912 County Road 350 4912 CO RD 350
La Veta, CO 81055 LA VETA, CO 81055
9402310333

Zone AGRICULTURAL Acres 60.14
HOA 1-MY HOA/POA IS NOT LISTED

VALUATION: Quantity Value FEES: Paid Due

CU/Pre-conference Application Fee 25.00 $0.00
Conditional Use NEW Fee 150.00 $0.00
Conditional Use Application / Manufactured
Home Park or Campground $0.00

CONDITIONS
Total: $175.00 $0.00

ACTION (by the authorized permitting authority)
__ Approved __ Conditional Approval __ Denial

Name Signature Date: _______

Comments Title

1. CUP not active until final approval of language for the easement, bond and environmental covenant is approved by the County  
Attorney;
2. CUP only active if State permits are concurrently valid and active;
3. Limit material buried to untreated wood products;
4. Excavations will be done quickly while materials are being buried â€“ not to exceed two weeks at a time (weather dependent);
5. Upon capping, burial sites will be revegetated;
6. Require preliminary and annual weed surveys while burial project is ongoing and for up to five years after final phase is complete, 
or until Weed Manager determines natural vegetation has been reestablished.
7. Produce a performance bond for reclamation and weed management to the County to be issued for each phase of operations in 
an amount to be determined based on capping and reclamation costs with a pre- and post-inspection.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 41C816C8-A2E8-4845-B213-D178E329D009

. .

.

6/27/2023

xx

Chairman

John Galusha
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4300 Cherry Creek Drive S., Denver, CO 80246-1530 P 303-692-2000  www.colorado.gov/cdphe 
Jared Polis, Governor | Jill Hunsaker Ryan, MPH, Executive Director 

 
 
9/30/2024 
 
Huerfano County Land Use Department 
401 Main Street, Suite 304 
Walsenburg, CO 81089 
 
Re: Walsenburg Carbon Sequestration Project Site - (IC-00104) 
 
Dear Land Use Department, 
 
Enclosed is a Notice of Environmental Use Restrictions (NEUR) for the Walsenburg Carbon 
Sequestration Project Site in Huerfano County.   
 
In Colorado, regulation of land use occurs primarily at the local level.  Nonetheless, environmental 
cleanup decisions sometimes result in a state or federal agency imposing restrictions on land use 
to protect human health or the environment from residual contamination.  The Colorado 
Environmental Covenant statute, C.R.S. § 25-15-321 to 327, imposes reciprocal obligations on the 
Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment Hazardous Materials and Waste 
Management Division (the Division) and affected local governments to coordinate with one another 
regarding land that is subject to environmental use restrictions.  See C.R.S. § 25-15-324.   
 
It is important that local government entities with authority over land use changes or excavation 
and construction activities be aware of any land use restrictions imposed in connection with 
environmental remediation projects, as those restrictions may conflict with proposed 
development activities.  Therefore, the statute requires that local governments notify the Division 
when they receive applications affecting land use or development of land that is subject to an 
environmental covenant or restrictive notice.  In turn, the Division must review the proposed 
application and provide timely advice to the local government as to whether the application is 
consistent with the terms of the covenant or restrictive notice.   
 
Please retain the enclosed NEUR to assist you in reviewing applications that affect the land use or 
development of the parcel described in the covenant.   
 
With regards, 
 
 
 
Sarah Foreman 
sarah.foreman@state.co.us | 303.692.3316 
 
ec: Carl Young – Huerfano County Administrator 
 Robin Sykes – Huerfano County Environmental Health Director 

Digitally signed by Sarah 
Foreman 
Date: 2024.09.30 
09:40:41 -06'00'
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2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032
Inflation Factor 0%

Open and Closure
Open 0 40,000

Closure 0 65,000
0 105,000

Post Closure
Onsite Monitoring

Frequency 0 0 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 1
Cost per visit 0 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250
Onsite 0 0 1000 1000 1000 250 250 250 250 250

Remote Monitoring
Subscription 0 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250

Revegetation 0 3500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

Infrastructure
Subscription 0 0 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

Insurance
Premium 0 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

Annual Review
Report 0 0 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400

Total Cost 0 112000 3650 3650 3650 2900 2900 2900 2900 1900

Open 40000
Closure 65000
Post-Closure 66250

Total 171250
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Inflation Factor 0%

Open and Closure
Open

Closure

Post Closure
Onsite Monitoring

Frequency
Cost per visit
Onsite

Remote Monitoring
Subscription

Revegetation

Infrastructure
Subscription

Insurance
Premium

Annual Review
Report

Total Cost

Open
Closure
Post-Closure

Total

2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250
250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250

250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250

500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400

1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
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Inflation Factor 0%

Open and Closure
Open

Closure

Post Closure
Onsite Monitoring

Frequency
Cost per visit
Onsite

Remote Monitoring
Subscription

Revegetation

Infrastructure
Subscription

Insurance
Premium

Annual Review
Report

Total Cost

Open
Closure
Post-Closure

Total

2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050 2051 2052

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250
250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250

250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250

500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500

400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400 400

1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
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Inflation Factor 0%

Open and Closure
Open

Closure

Post Closure
Onsite Monitoring

Frequency
Cost per visit
Onsite

Remote Monitoring
Subscription

Revegetation

Infrastructure
Subscription

Insurance
Premium

Annual Review
Report

Total Cost

Open
Closure
Post-Closure

Total

2053 2054 Total

105000

1 1
250 250
250 250 9750

250 250 7500

7000

500 500 15000

500 500 15000

400 400 12000

1900 1900 178250
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Huerfano County Land Use Department 

401 Main Street, Suite 304 

Walsenburg, Colorado 81089  
719-738-1220,  Ext. 506   
 

1  23-015 

 

Huerfano County Board of County Commissioners 

Staff Report – Permit #23-015 CUP Bongiovanni 

Huerfano Carbon Sequestration Project 

 

 

Meeting Date: January 21, 2025 

 

Request Summary 

With this Application Ray Bongiovanni (the Applicant) requests the following: 

 

Final approval of a Conditional Use Permit pursuant to LUR Section §1.06 and approval of a Certificate 

of Designation pursuant to the Solid Waste Disposal Sites and Facilities Act, Title 30, Article 20, Parts 1 

and 10 to operate a wood burial operation as part of a carbon credit offset program. Untreated wood would 

be buried on a roughly 17-acre portion of the parcel in phases, with each phase containing roughly two-

acres on which pits of up to 20’ in depth would be dug and in which wood would be buried. Buried wood 

would be monitored for carbon or methane emissions. 

 

The site is addressed at County Rd. 351 #01940 (Parcel Number 41244). 

 

Wood burial will be considered a landfill, and is also regulated through a State of Colorado Certificate of 

Designation and a State of Colorado Environmental Covenant. 

 

The subject property is zoned Agricultural and contains approximately 60 acres. Zoning standards for this district 

are set forth in LUR Section §1.03. 

 

The Engineering Design and Operations Plan is available here:  

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1J6UYdiZ87hhcOc30CH7uBl-JQXOM7B4R/view?usp=sharing 

 

Board of County Commissioners Action: 

On June 13, 2023, the Board of County Commissioners reviewed this application and made the following motion: 

 

Motion to recommend Conditional Approval for Permit Application #23-015 for the purpose of allowing 

applicant to pursue permitting with the State authority. At such time that applicant and State agency(ies) agree 

upon language, final versions of the easement, surety/performance bond provisions, and environmental covenant 

be submitted to the County for final review and approval; and with the following 6 conditions: 

1. Require preliminary and annual weed surveys while the burial project is ongoing and for up to five years 

after the final phase is complete, or until Weed Manager determines natural vegetation has been 

reestablished. 

2. CUP is not active until final approval of language for the easement, bond and environmental covenant is 

approved by the County Attorney and adopted by the BOCC 

3. CUP is only active if State permits are concurrently valid and active. 

4. Limit material buried to untreated wood products. 
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2            23-015 CUP Wood Burial 

 

5. The following statements made by the applicant in the application could be considered as conditions of 

the CUP:  

a. Excavations will be done quickly while materials are being buried – not to exceed two weeks at a 

time (weather dependent). 

b. Upon capping, the burial site will be revegetated. 

6. Produce performance bonds for reclamation and weed management to the county to be issued with each 

phase of operation in an amount to be determined (TBD) based on capping and reclamation costs with a 

pre and post inspection. 

Motion: Andreatta 

Second: Sporleder 

Discussion: None 

Resolved: Motion passed by unanimous vote. 

Sporleder: Yes 

Andreatta: Yes 

Chairman Galusha: Yes 

 

Planning Commission Action: 
On 6/08/23, the Planning Commission reviewed this application and made the following recommendation to be 

heard at a public meeting by the BOCC: 

Recommend provisional approval for application 23-015 for the purpose of allowing applicant to pursue 

permitting with the State authority. At such time that applicant and State agency(ies) agree upon language, final 

versions of the easement, surety/performance bond provisions, and environmental covenant be submitted to the 

County for final review and approval.  

 

At the Planning Commission meeting on 6/08/23, Commissioners made the following requests: 

1. Provide final language on the easement described. 

2. Provide clarity on whether the bond will be a surety or performance bond and include the County is 

included as a beneficiary. 

3. Provide final language on the environmental covenant. Ensure that covenant runs to the County as well as 

to the Operator as a condition of approval. 

The following questions or issues were brought up by the Planning Commission: 

1. Revegetation of sites may take longer than one year to re-establish cover crop. The Commission asked 

whether the crop would be irrigated and for how long. Applicant responded that minimal irrigation for to 

establish the crop in the first year was planned; Commission suggested that applicant may need to plan to 

irrigate for up to five years to re-establish a cover crop. Applicant stated that NRCS-approved seed mix 

would be used, and that NRCS would be part of partnership in restoration of topsoil. Commission 

requested that documentation of seed mix be forwarded to Planning Department.  

Furthermore, the Planning Commission raised the question whether this project should be considered a use by 

right or if it should be considered a landfill for non-hazardous substances as described in 1.05.25 in the Land Use 

Code.  

 

Background 

On 5/05/2023, an Application for a Conditional Use Permit along with Application Fees were received by the 

County. The Application was determined to be complete upon a pre-application meeting with the applicant on 

5/8/2023. 
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This applicant previously applied for a Conditional Use Permit for a similar project (Application 22-50). Because 

that project only involved wood to be cut from the premises, the Planning Commission determined that it would 

constitute a use by right, similar to the burial of other agricultural wastes. Because this proposal is to bury material 

from off-site, it is considered a landfill to contain non-hazardous substances in the Use Table.  

 

In addition to a Conditional Use Permit from the county, this project also requires a State of Colorado Certificate 

of Designation, and a State of Colorado Environmental Covenant to permanently identify the site as a limited-use 

site subject to State inspection.  

 

The property was sold to the applicant in March of 2023. The deed to the property is dated March 9, 2023.  

 

 

Code References  
The following Code Sections are applicable to this application and may be referenced by the in the evaluation of 

this request:  

 

§1.06 Conditional Use Permits 

§1.05.25 Use Table Reference: Sewage disposal areas, sludge, septage, landfills for non-hazardous substances and waste 

water treatment plants  

 

Staff proposes that this proposed use falls under §1.05.25 in the Use Table, and is a conditional use in the 

Agricultural zone. 

 

Site Map/Vicinity Map 
(see image) 

 

Site Description and Context 

 
The land is located in the Cucharas River 
Estates subdivision, roughly five miles 
northeast of La Veta, near the intersection 
of County Road 350 and 351. The land is  
currently being used for cattle grazing. 
The affected area within the property is 
tree-less grazing land. All surrounding, 
adjacent properties are zoned Agricul-
tural. 
There are 2 nearby homes (in addition to 
one owned by the applicant), one more 
than a half-mile away, and the other out of 
sight. The home on parcel 40157 is ap-
proximately 1,500 ft from the proposed 
burial site; the home on parcel 41243 
(4912 CR 350) is approximately 1,300 ft 
from the proposed burial site and owned 
by the applicant. There are three other 
homes within ½ mile on parcels 467801 to 

the west, 40156 to the east and 40143 to the north. 
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All cleared land on adjoining properties is used for cattle grazing and fire-wood cutting and distribution. There is a fire-
wood business located on Parcel 467801. 
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Proposal Details 

The proposed project involves the burial of wood 

products for the purpose of collecting carbon tax 

credits. Wood is to be buried in chambers where it 

will receive minimal moisture and oxygen. Buried 

wood will be monitored for gasses associated with 

decomposition; should decomposition begin or reach 

a certain rate, the problem would be addressed or the 

wood would be moved.  

The project offers a potential use for unmerchantable 

wood that could reduce fuel in the forest or from 

other locations.  

No utilities are required for the operation. Monitoring 

equipment will be housed in a small shed and 

powered by solar panels or batteries. 

This proposal involves 17 acres on a 60-acre parcel. 

Burial would take place in approximately 10 phases 

involving roughly 2-acres each (see preliminary site 

plan). Each ~2-acre phase would include the pit to be 

dug as well as the space to stockpile dirt and material 

to be buried. While pits are open, a fence would be 

put up to keep cattle out, and after closing each pit, 

disturbed earth will be re-planted and the fence 

removed to allow cattle to graze on all but a 

currently-disturbed area.  

The management plan in Appendix 1of the Letter of 

Intent describes monitoring and mitigation strategies 

for various types of problems.  

Appendix 2 includes additional maps showing location and context for the site.  

Appendix 3 covers pit design 

Appendix 4 covers soil report 

 

Proposed language for the easement and environmental covenant is from the related trial project in River Ridge 

Ranch. 

 

Application Materials  

Required Submittals for a CUP: 

1. Letter of intent 

a. Current and proposed uses 

b. Impacts of proposed use on roads, traffic, safety, services, environment. 

c. Comprehensive Plan compliance statement 

d. Proof of ownership 

e. List of other state or federal permits granted or applied for. 

f. List of names and mailing addresses of all listed owners of adjacent property 

2. Site Plan 

3. Vicinity map – area within 500 ft of property, description of any plats and improvements on property 

within 500 ft. 

4. Proof of ownership. 
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5. List of names and addresses of adjacent property owners. 

Criteria 
In order for an Conditional Use Permit to be issued, the criteria set forth in LUR Section 1.06  must be met. An analysis of 

these criteria is provided below: 

Planning commission shall determine if a public hearing is required per 1.06.02: 

 

1. That the proposed conditional use conforms to the requirements and provisions of this zoning regulation. 

2. That the proposed conditional use is consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of Huerfano County, as con-

tained in the County comprehensive plan. 

3. That the proposed conditional use is consistent with and in harmony with neighboring land uses and future intended 

land uses in the area. 

4. That the proposed conditional land use will not result in overly intensive use of the land relative to current use of the 

surrounding land. 

5. That the proposed conditional use will not result in unmitigated traffic congestion or hazards to vehicular or pedes-

trian traffic and its roads will meet the requirements of Subdivision County Road Standards and Specifications. 

6. That the proposed conditional use not unnecessarily scar the land on which such use would be located and that the 

proposed use provide all measures necessary to mitigate negative impacts upon agricultural lands, critical wildlife 

habitat, seasonal wildlife migration corridors, scenic views and existing cultural and historical resources. 

7. That the proposed conditional use will not be likely to prove detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare of 

County residents nor cause hardship for neighboring persons. 

 

 

Noticing (1.06.02): Referral agency comment period 30 days; Notice in newspaper 10 days before public hearing; 

Notification to adjacent property owners 10 days before public hearing; post sign on property 10 days before 

public hearing. 

Notices sent: To be sent after Planning Commission sets hearing date. 

Notices in paper: To be set after Planning Commission sets hearing date. 

 

Referral agencies to be contacted:  
 

Huerfano County fire district: rjameson@lavetafire.org, smorningstar.huerfanofire@gmail.com 

Huerfano County Emergency Management Department: bciarlo@huerfano.us 

Colorado Division of Parks and Wildlife: spencer.gerk@state.co.us 

Huerfano County Health Department: rsykes@la-h-health.org 

Huerfano County Road and Bridge Department: dhribar@huerfano.us 

CDOT: michelle.regalado@state.co.us 

School District: mmoore@huerfano.k12.co.us, leslee.miller@lvk12.org 

Huerfano County Sheriff’s office: BRUCENEWMAN@bresnan.net 
CDPHE: jerry.henderson@state.co.us, Joseph.Talbott@state.co.us, Rachel.Zancanella@state.co.us 

State Engineer/Division of Water Resources: kevin.rein@state.co.us 
 

 

Referral Comments 

 Comment was received from CDOT stating that they had no comment pertaining to this submittal. 

 Comment was also received from CDPHE requesting additional details on closure cost estimates from the 

applicant.  
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Potential Conditions  

1. Require preliminary and annual weed surveys while burial project is ongoing and for up to five years after 

final phase is complete, or until Weed Manager determines natural vegetation has been reestablished.  

2. CUP not active until final approval of language for the easement, bond and environmental covenant is 

approved by the BOCC. 

3. CUP only active if State permits are concurrently valid and active. 

4. Limit material buried to untreated wood products. 

5. The following statements made by the applicant in the application could be considered as conditions of 

the CUP: 

o Excavations will be done quickly while materials are being buried – not to exceed two weeks at a 

time (weather dependent). 

o Upon capping, burial site will be revegetated. 

Staff Recommendation:  

Consider Planning Commission Recommendation: 

Recommend CONDITIOINAL approval for application 22-015 for the purpose of allowing applicant to pursue 

permitting with the State authority. At such time that applicant and State agency(ies) agree upon language, final 

versions of the easement, surety/performance bond provisions, and environmental covenant be submitted to the 

County for final review and approval.  

Conditions: 

1. Permit is not issued until BOCC has reviewed and agreed upon final language in the easement, bond and 

environmental covenant. 

2. Permit is not issued until all required state permits have been issued. 

 

 

Commission Action Options: 
1. Approval without any special conditions. 
2. Conditional Approval with a description of the special conditions. 
3. Denial, indicating for the record the reason(s) for such action. 
4. Continuation until a future date to gather more information or obtain clarification or for any other 
relevant cause. 
 

 

Enclosures 

 Application Materials 

1. Application 

2. Letter of intent 

 Site Plan 

 Vicinity Map 

3. Supplemental information requested 

 Bonding 

 Monumenting 

 Covenant details 

 Groundwater conditions 

4. Proof of Ownership 
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EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS EASEMENT AGREEMENT is made this 6th day of November, 2024, between 

Ramon Bongiovanni and Nancy Bongiovanni (“Landowner”), Woodcache PBC, a Kansas for 

Profit Corporation, whose street address is 90 North 400 East, Provo, UT, 84606 (“Builder”), 

and Wood Cache Completion Corp, a Kansas for Profit Corporation, whose street address is 90 

North 400 East, Provo, UT 84606 ("Operator"). 

 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Landowner is the owner of Lot 12B Cucharas River Estates located in the W1/2 of 

Section 7, Township 29 South, Range 67 West the in 6th PM in Huerfano County comprising 

approximately 60.14 acres as shown on Exhibit A (the “Property”). 

WHEREAS, Builder and Operator are companies that specialize in the gathering, preservation, 

and maintenance of wood in a manner that reduces the production of carbon dioxide with the 

goal of generating and selling carbon dioxide removal certificates/credits (“CORCs”). 

WHEREAS, Landowner, Builder, and Operator desire to work cooperatively to cut, gather, 

receive, bury, and preserve wood on the Property consistent with all applicable laws and 

regulations in order to generate CORCs (“Wood Preservation Project”). 

WHEREAS, Landowner is willing to host a Wood Preservation Project on the Property in 

exchange for payments based on the estimated carbon mass buried on the Property and for 

Builder and Operator assuming all costs and legal responsibilities for the Wood Preservation 

Project including its construction, operation, maintenance, monitoring, and any and all ongoing 

obligations which may last 100 years into the future.  

WHEREAS, Landowner is willing to encumber the Property with a covenant for purposes of the 

Wood Preservation Project and to grant Builder and Operator an easement for its construction, 

operation, maintenance, monitoring, and any ongoing obligations. 

WHEREAS, the Property is subject to an existing lease with the Carbon Containment Lab (“CC 

Labs”). 

WHEREAS, in light of the foregoing, the Parties desire to work together pursuant to the terms 

and conditions of this Easement Agreement.  

AGREEMENT 

1. The Wood Preservation Project shall be comprised of a (1) Construction Phase and (2) 

Maintenance Phase.  Builder is responsible for the Construction Phase and Operator is 

responsible for the Maintenance Phase.  During the Construction Phase, Builder, in 

consultation with Landowner, will cut and gather wood from the Property and will dig pits on 

the Property for preservation of the wood (the “Preservation Pits”) within the Easement Area 

described below.  Builder or its agents and assigns may also transport wood from offsite 

locations to the Property for burial in the Preservation Pits.  The wood will then be buried in 
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the Preservation Pits in a manner determined by Builder and Operator to minimize the 

production of carbon dioxide with the goal being to generate CORCs.  During the 

Maintenance Phase, Operator shall maintain the Preservation Pits in accordance with all 

laws, rules, covenants, contracts, or other legal obligations related to the Wood Preservation 

Project including but not limited to a restrictive covenant on the Property consistent with the 

requirements of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment and Huerfano 

County, a Platform Agreement with Puro.earth Oy,  and the rules, regulations, and laws of 

the State of Colorado and Huerfano County.  The Parties anticipate that the Maintenance 

Phase will extend for at least 100 years from the time the Construction Phase ends.  The 

Parties anticipate that the Wood Preservation Project will be a multi-year project resulting in 

the construction of several Preservation Pits, which will be sequentially constructed, filled 

with wood, and then capped within the Easement Area. 

 

2. Landowner Responsibilities.  For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Landowner” 

shall refer equally to the current owner of the Property and any future owner of the Property 

and the terms herein are intended to run with the land and be binding on all owners of the 

Property during the Agreement Term.  In exchange for payments based on the amount of 

wood buried on the Property and Builder and Operator assuming all other responsibilities for 

the Wood Preservation Project, Landowner agrees to accept the following limited 

responsibilities described below, which shall be narrowly construed and shall not be 

expanded except by written amendment to this Easement Agreement: 

 

2.1.Covenant.  Landowner agrees to encumber the Property with a restrictive covenant in a 

form no more restrictive than that attached as Exhibit B.  Landowner’s only 

responsibility under the Covenant shall be to refrain from developing the Property or 

taking actions with respect to the Preservation Pits that are inconsistent with terms of the 

Covenant.  Any additional responsibilities such as ongoing monitoring, reporting 

requirements, and communications with the Colorado Department of Public Health and 

the Environment shall be the responsibility of Operator and Operator shall accept the 

assignment of such obligations by Landowner to Operator.  The Parties also agree that 

Landowner may include a description of Operator’s responsibilities in the Covenant and 

that Operator shall not oppose such efforts as long as they are otherwise consistent with 

the terms of the Agreement.   

 

2.2.License.  Landowner hereby grants Builder a license to enter the Property, to cut and 

gather wood from the Property for the Wood Preservation Project, and to transport wood 

onto the Property for burial in the Preservation Pits.  Builder shall coordinate with 

Landowner and obtain approval from Landowner prior to cutting down any trees on the 

Property.  It is anticipated that the majority of the wood for the Wood Preservation 

Project will come from offsite.  The wood gathered from the Property shall be staged in a 

location that is mutually acceptable to the Parties and in accordance with any permits, 

laws, or covenants governing such work  This license shall automatically terminate upon 

the earlier of (1) completion of the Construction Phase of the final Preservation Pit for the 
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Wood Preservation Project or (2) 6 years after the execution of this document.  

Landowner may extend the term of the license by written amendment of this Agreement. 

 

2.3.Easement.  Landowner hereby grants Builder and Operator a non-exclusive easement 

over the Property for the limited purpose of the construction, operation, maintenance, 

remediation, and monitoring of the Preservation Pits and ingress and egress thereto.   The 

easement shall include: (1) a 19-foot-wide ingress/egress corridor from County Road 351 

to the Preservation Pits as detailed on Exhibit C and (2) an area that includes the 

footprint of the Preservation Pits and such additional area as necessary to perform 

maintenance on the Preservation Pits as detailed on Exhibit D.  The ingress/egress 

corridor and area for the construction and maintenance of the Preservation Pits is 

collectively referred to as the Easement Area.  

 

2.3.1. Road Improvements.  Builder may improve and extend the existing dirt road on 

the Property as necessary to accommodate construction equipment, deliveries of 

wood to the Preservation Pits, and ongoing access to the Preservation Pits (“Pit 

Road”).  However, all improvements and extensions of the Pit Road must be 

constructed consistent with and within the corridor described in Exhibit C.  All 

such costs shall be borne solely by Builder.  Builder shall be solely responsible 

for the maintenance and repair of the Pit Road until the end of the license 

described in paragraph 2.2, above, at which point, such responsibilities shall 

automatically transfer to Operator.   

 

2.3.2. Property Improvements. Landowner agrees that Operator may construct a small 

structure within the Easement Area not to exceed 125 square feet for purposes of 

operating and maintaining the Preservation Pits (“Storage Structure”).  The 

Storage Structure may be used to house information technology equipment, 

computers, solar panels, measuring equipment or other equipment necessary for 

the long-term operation and maintenance of the Preservation Pits. The Storage 

Structure shall be deemed to be personal property of Operator and Operator shall 

be solely responsible for its construction and maintenance.  Operator shall 

maintain the Storage Structure in good repair at all times and shall not allow the 

Storage Structure to become an eyesore or blight on the Property.  In the event 

that the Storage Structure falls into disrepair, Landowner may provide notice to 

the Operator and Operator shall have 14 calendar days to remedy the condition of 

the Storage Structure.  If Operator fails to bring the Storage Structure into good 

repair, Landowner may make the necessary repairs and Operator shall be 

responsible for reimbursing Landowner for all such costs within 30 days of 

receipt of the invoice for the repairs.  Landowner agrees that Operator may install 

underground electrical utilities to the Storage Structure at Operator's expense, but 

Operator shall provide Landowner with a map showing the location of any such 

utilities.  Landowner also agrees that Operator may install fencing around the 

Preservation Pits if required as a condition of the Covenant described in paragraph 
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2.1, above, or if necessary for Operator to obtain approval of CORCs or if 

necessary for safety purposes.  Landowner agrees not to remove or alter the 

Storage Structure, electric utilities, or fencing described above without express 

written approval of Operator and shall refrain from taking any actions that 

damage the Storage Structure, electric utilities, or fencing.  Builder’s rights to the 

above easement shall end upon end of the license described in paragraph 2.2, 

above. 

  

2.4.Voluntary Assistance to Builder and Operator.  While Landowner may, in his and her 

sole discretion, voluntarily assist Builder and Operator with their responsibilities that are 

described herein, Landowner is under no obligation to do so and any voluntary assistance 

does not create an obligation on the part of the Landowner to continue to provide such 

assistance in the future. 

 

2.5.  Additional Landowner Responsibilities.  The Parties acknowledge that the precise terms 

of the Covenant and other contracts and agreements necessary to effectuate the Wood 

Preservation Project will not be known until sometime in the future and that the Parties 

do not have complete control over the terms of those future covenants, contracts, and 

agreements.  However, it is the Parties’ intent that Landowner’s responsibilities with 

respect to the Wood Preservation Project be limited to those specific responsibilities 

described herein.  As such, while Landowner may agree to take on additional 

responsibilities in the future, Landowner is under no obligation to do so and Landowner 

will only agree to accept additional obligations pursuant to a written amendment to this 

Agreement or an additional future agreement with Operator, Builder, and/or any 

additional necessary parties. 

 

2.6.Disclaimer of Responsibilities.  The Parties agree that, but for the limited responsibilities 

described above, Landowner shall have no other responsibilities or obligations 

concerning the Wood Preservation Project or the Preservation Pits and that it is Builder’s 

and Operator’s responsibility to ensure that any contracts, covenants, or additional 

agreements necessary to carry out the Wood Preservation Project reflect the Landowner’s 

limited responsibilities and do not create any new responsibilities or obligations in 

Landowner or encumbrances on the Property.  This may include listing Landowner as a 

beneficiary of any insurance policy or trust fund established by Operator or Builder. 

 

3. Builder Responsibilities.  Builder shall perform all of the responsibilities below consistent 

with all laws, rules, covenants, contracts, or other legal obligations that govern such activities 

including but not limited to a restrictive covenant on the Property consistent with the 

requirements of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, a Platform 

Agreement with Puro.earth Oy, the rules and regulations of any applicable homeowners’ 

association, and the rules, regulations, and laws of the State of Colorado and Huerfano 

County.   
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3.1.Wood Collection.  Builder shall be responsible for the collection of wood from the 

Property consistent with the license described in paragraph 2.2 and shall exercise its 

rights to the license in a manner to minimize the impacts to the Property. 

 

3.2.Pit Road Construction and Maintenance.  Builder shall be solely responsible for the 

improvement or construction of the Pit Road as necessary to accommodate construction 

equipment, deliveries of wood to the Preservation Pits, and ongoing access to the 

Preservation Pits.  All improvements and extensions of the Pit Road must be constructed 

consistent with and within the corridor described in Exhibit C.   

 

3.3.Transportation of Wood to the Property.  The Parties anticipate that the majority of the 

wood buried in the Preservation Pits will be sourced from outside of the Property.  

Builder is solely responsible for sourcing such wood, compensating, if necessary, the 

owners of the wood, and transporting the wood to the Property consistent with the terms 

of this Agreement.  Builder is also solely responsible for ensuring that the Pit Road is 

sufficient to accommodate the vehicles used to transport the wood to the Preservation 

Pits. 

 

3.4.Determining Estimated Carbon Mass.  Builder shall be responsible for determining the 

Estimated Carbon Mass (“ECM”) of all wood buried in the Preservation Pits.  To 

calculate ECM for each truckload, Builder will record the weight of each truckload of 

wood brought onto the Property or harvested from the Property and multiply the dry 

weight by the average carbon content of the wood, which shall be determined as 

described below.  Builder shall, for each location from which wood is gathered for the 

Wood Preservation Project, take three (3) wood samples encompassing a representative 

mix of species from large (48 inch or larger diameter), medium (16 – 48 inch diameter), 

and small (less than 16 inch diameter) diameter logs (at least 9 total samples) and test 

them for moisture content and carbon content.  Builder will determine the average carbon 

content of the wood by deducting the average moisture content based on the nine (9) 

samples described above and applying the average carbon content based on the nine (9) 

samples described above to the resulting dry matter as illustrated in the sample table 

below.  Builder shall maintain detailed records of the ECM for each truckload, including 

the source of the wood, weights, and the average carbon content used to calculate the 

ECM, which records shall be freely provided to Landowner and Operator within 5 

business days of a request from Landowner or Operator.  These records will also serve as 

the basis for the payments to Landowner described in paragraph 6 below.  

 

Mass of Biomass Placed in Storage (wet weight, metric 

tonnes) 

1200 

Dry Matter Content of Biomass Placed in Storage 

Determined from Average of Moisture Measurements (%) 

63.84% 

Dry Mass of Biomass Placed in Storage (metric tonnes) 766.08 
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Organic Content of Biomass Determined from Average of 

Carbon Content Measurements (%) 

52.70% 

Estimated Carbon Mass (metric tonnes) 403.7 

 

3.5.Construction and Capping of Preservation Pits.  Builder shall be responsible for the 

construction of the Preservation Pits within the area identified on Exhibit D including the 

acquisition of any necessary permits or legal approvals associated with the construction 

of and burial of wood within the Preservation Pits.  Builder shall also be responsible for 

the burial of wood within the Preservation Pits and the construction of a cap on the 

Preservation Pits. 

 

3.6.Remediation.  Builder shall be responsible for restoring any portions of the surface of the 

Property that were disturbed during the Construction Phases to a pre-disturbance state or 

such other state as may be required by any laws, rules, covenants, contracts, or other legal 

obligations that govern the Preservation Pits and the use of the Preservation Pits to 

generate CORCs.   

 

3.7.End of Construction Phase.  The Construction Phase of each Preservation Pit shall end at 

such time as the Preservation Pit has been capped and the surface has been remediated 

consistent with any applicable remediation requirements.  Builder shall provide notice to 

Landowner and Operator within 5 calendar days of the close of the Construction Phase 

for each Preservation Pit and when all Preservation Pits within the Wood Preservation 

Project have been capped and the surface remediated.  

 

3.8.No Ongoing Responsibilities.  Builder shall have no responsibility for the ongoing 

operation, maintenance, and repair of the Preservation Pits after the close of the 

Construction Phases and all such responsibilities and costs shall be borne by Operator. 

 

3.9.Indemnification.  Builder agrees to indemnify and hold the Landowner harmless from 

any claims or causes of action against Landowner arising from Builder’s acts and 

omissions on the Property including the gathering and burial of wood, transportation of 

wood onto the Property, construction and capping of the Preservation Pits, and its use of 

the easement and license granted herein. 

 

4. Operator Responsibilities.  In addition to the specific responsibilities described below, 

Operator shall accept any and all responsibilities for the Wood Preservation Project beyond 

those explicitly identified above as Landowner or Builder responsibilities. 

 

4.1.Covenant.  Operator hereby agrees to assume all responsibilities under the Covenant that 

are not explicitly assumed by Landowner in Paragraph 2.1, above.  Operator also agrees 

to work cooperatively with Landowner in negotiating the final terms and conditions of 

the Covenant contemplated in Paragraph 2.1, above, to ensure that it is no more 
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restrictive on Landowner and the Property than is absolutely necessary to facilitate the 

Wood Preservation Project. 

 

4.2.Approval of CORCs.  Operator shall be solely responsible for any and all actions 

necessary to obtain approval of CORCs for the Wood Preservation Project including 

acceptance and assumption of any ongoing and/or future obligations necessary to 

maintain the CORCs in good standing.  Accordingly, any contracts necessary for the 

approval of CORCs shall be in the name of the Operator or its assigns and all 

responsibilities thereunder shall be explicitly allocated to Operator. 

   

4.3.Operation and Maintenance.  Operator shall be solely responsible for any and all 

operation, maintenance, monitoring, remediation, repair, or any other ongoing work 

necessary to keep the Wood Preservation Project in compliance with all applicable laws, 

covenants, contracts, and agreements.  Operator shall also become solely responsible for 

the operation, maintenance, monitoring, remediation, or repair of the Pit Road once 

Builder’s responsibilities for the road transfer to Operator consistent with paragraph 

2.3.1, above.  During the Maintenance Phase of the Wood Preservation Project, Operator 

shall provide Landowner with notice at least 10 calendar days prior to performing any 

work that requires the use of heavy equipment on the Property. 

 

4.4.Use of Easement.  Operator shall exercise its rights to the easement described in 

Paragraph 2.3, above, in a manner so as to minimize the impacts to the Property.  

Accordingly, if Operator’s use of the Property results in damage to the Property, Operator 

shall make reasonable efforts to restore that portion of the Property to a pre-disturbance 

state. 

 

4.5.Trust Account.  Within 10 business days of the capping of each Preservation Pit, 

Operator shall deposit an amount of money into a trust fund account equal to $10 for each 

metric ton of dry biomass buried in said pit such that upon the completion of the 

Construction Phase of the Wood Preservation Project the trust fund will contain an 

amount of money representing $10 for each metric ton of dry biomass buried in the 

Wood Preservation Project (“Landowner Trust Account”).  The balance of the 

Landowner Trust Account shall be adjusted every 5 years commencing on the date of the 

first deposit into the Landowner Trust Account by the percentage change in 

consumer prices as measured by the United States Consumer Price Index entitled "All 

Urban Consumers: All items in U.S. City Average" or a similar index should such index 

no longer be published (“CPI Adjustment”).  Landowner shall be identified as the sole 

beneficiary of the Landowner Trust Account in order to protect Landowner from the 

costs of any obligation for the Wood Preservation Project that goes beyond the limited 

responsibilities assumed by the Landowner in Paragraph 2, above.  One of the purposes 

of the Landowner Trust Account is to ensure that funding is available for future 

operation, maintenance, monitoring, remediation, or other costs related to the long term 

(100+ years) maintenance of Wood Preservation Project in compliance with all 
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applicable laws, covenants, and agreements.  The Parties recognize that the State of 

Colorado and Huerfano County may also require bonding or the reservation of trust funds 

as a condition to the approval and closure of the Wood Preservation Project.  In the event 

that this occurs and upon closure of the Wood Preservation Project, the Landowner Trust 

Account will be reduced by the amount of bonding or trust funds required by the State of 

Colorado and Huerfano County such that the total amount of money associated with the 

Landowner Trust Account and any other required bonds or trust funds do not exceed an 

amount of money representing $10 for each metric ton of dry biomass buried in the 

Wood Preservation Project (“Landowner Trust Account Reconciliation”).  The CPI 

Adjustment shall continue to apply to the Landowner Trust Account after any Landowner 

Trust Account Reconciliation.  

 

4.6.Duties to Landowner.  Operator shall have a fiduciary duty to Landowner for purposes of 

ensuring that neither the Landowner nor the Property incur any responsibilities, 

obligations, or encumbrances associated with the Wood Preservation Project beyond 

those specifically identified in Paragraph 2, above. 

 

4.7.Indemnification.  Operator agrees to indemnify and hold the Landowner harmless from 

any claims or causes of action against Landowner and its successors and assigns arising 

from or related to Operator’s acts and omissions on the Property including its actions 

related to the Wood Preservation Project, the Preservation Pits, the easements and license 

granted herein and any CORCs that may result from the Wood Preservation Project.  This 

indemnification is explicitly intended to apply with equal force to any party who 

purchases the Property in the future. 

 

5. Agreement Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be for 100 years from the date of 

execution.  At the end of the Agreement Term, the Agreement shall automatically renew for 

one additional 100 year period unless: (1) the Parties amend this Agreement prior to the end 

of the Agreement Term to describe an alternate outcome or (2) Landowner or Operator 

provides written notice to the other Party at least 180 days prior to the end of the Agreement 

Term that he or she does not desire for the Agreement to automatically renew (“Notice of 

Non-Renewal”).  The Notice of Non-Renewal will result in the automatic termination of the 

Agreement at the end of the Agreement Term, subject only to Operator’s remediation 

obligations described in paragraph 6, below.  This Agreement shall automatically terminate if 

Operator becomes owner of the Property. 

 

6. Payment to Landowner.  In exchange for use of the Property under the terms of this 

Agreement, Operator shall pay Landowner $ 20 per metric ton of ECM buried in the 

Preservation Pits.  ECM shall be calculated as described in paragraph 3.4, above.  Operator 

shall make the required payments to Landowner within 60 days of the completion of 

construction of the cap of each Preservation Pit and the amount of the payment shall reflect 

the number of tons of ECM buried in that particular Preservation Pit.  Separate payments 

shall be made upon the capping of each Preservation Pit.   Failure by Operator to make the 
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payments contemplated herein shall constitute a breach of this agreement for which Operator 

shall remedy by (1) making the required payment or (2) by removing all wood from the 

Preservation Pits, restoring the Property to the state that existed prior Builder’s and 

Operator’s activities on the Property, and removing any covenants or land use restrictions 

from the Property associated with the Wood Preservation Project.  

 

7. Remediation at End of Agreement Term.  At the end of the Agreement Term, Operator shall 

remediate the Property to a state that permits the termination of the Covenant described in 

Paragraph 2.1.  This may include the removal of the wood in the Preservation Pits, filling in 

the Preservation Pits, and planting native vegetation.  Operator shall be responsible for 

acquiring termination of said Covenant on Landowner’s behalf and shall coordinate with 

Landowner on such efforts.  Operator’s responsibilities under this paragraph 7 shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement in the event that they are not satisfied prior to the 

Termination of this Agreement pursuant to Paragraph 5, above. 

 

8. Termination by Mutual Agreement.  This Agreement may only be terminated prior to the end 

of the Agreement Term by mutual written agreement of the Parties or if Operator becomes 

owner of the Property.  The Parties are free to negotiate the terms under which they will 

mutually agree to terminate this Agreement, and those terms may include requirements 

concerning the remediation of the Property and such other actions as may be necessary to 

remove the Covenant from the Property. 

 

9. Sale of the Property. Nothing in this Agreement prevents Landowner from selling the 

Property at any time. However, Parties acknowledge that the terms of this Agreement shall 

run with the land and that the Property may become subject to a restrictive covenant as 

described in Paragraph 2.1, above and that the sale of the Property shall be subject to the 

terms of this Agreement and any restrictive covenant placed on the Property pursuant to this 

Agreement.  Landowner shall provide notice to Builder, if the term of license described in 

paragraph 2.2 has not expired, and Operator at least 30 calendar days prior to publicly listing 

the Property for sale.  Builder and Operator agree to cooperate with Landowner with respect 

to the sale of the Property including providing Landowner with any documents and 

information related to the Wood Preservation Project and Preservation Pits that are requested 

by a potential buyer.  

 

10. Transfer of Property to Operator.  Landowner may, at its sole discretion, transfer ownership 

of the Property to Operator at any time and for any reason and Operator hereby agrees to 

accept the transfer of the Property subject to the terms of this paragraph 10.  Landowner shall 

not be entitled to additional compensation for the transfer of the Property to Operator, but 

Operator shall be responsible for any transfer fees, recording fees, or closing costs necessary 

to transfer the Property to Operator.   If Operator becomes the owner of the Property, then the 

terms of this Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect.  
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11. CC Lab Lease.  The Parties acknowledge that a portion of the Property, including Pit Road, 

is subject to an existing lease with Carbon Containment Lab (“CC Lab”) for purposes of 

carrying out scientific experimentation on the Property.  Builder and Operator shall exercise 

their rights and responsibilities under this Agreement in a manner so as not to interfere with 

CC Lab’s experiments or its access to the Property.  Builder and Operator agree to coordinate 

their use of the Property with CC Labs and any other users of the Property to ensure that CC 

Labs’ experiments are not disturbed and to minimize any conflicts concerning the parties’ 

use of the Property.  

 

12. Default.  In the event a default occurs in the performance of any party’s obligations 

hereunder, the non-defaulting party shall, as a condition of exercising its remedies hereunder, 

provide written notice of such default to the other party.  The defaulting party shall thereafter 

have 14 calendar days, commencing the day notice is given, in which to remedy such default. 

Notice shall be deemed given when received.  The burden of proving notice was given shall 

be on the party giving the notice.  If either party defaults hereunder and fails to timely cure 

such default, the party not in default shall be entitled to seek any remedies under Colorado 

law at the time of breach, including, without limitation, specific performance.  

 

13. Notice.  All notices required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 

personally delivered or delivered by overnight delivery service, to the addresses set forth 

below, or transmitted by email to the email address for each party set forth.  Any party may 

change the address to which notices are to be given by giving notice in this manner. 

 For Landowner: 

  Ramon Bongiovanni and Nancy Bongiovanni  

4912 County Road 350 

La Veta, CO 81055 

Email: raybon02@swbell.net  

Telephone: 940-231-0333  
 

For Operator and Builder:  

Serge Bushman 

 90 North 400 East,  

 Provo, UT 84606 

 Email:  serge@woodcache.org 

 Telephone: 913-991-7179 

 

 For CC Labs 

 Sinead M. Crotty, PhD 

 Email: sinead@cclab.org 

 Telephone: 203-980-7354 
   

14. Waiver.  The waiver by either Party of any breach of any term, condition, or provision herein 

contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, condition, or provision, or any 

subsequent breach of the same, or any other term, condition, or provision contained herein. 
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15. Attorneys’ Fees.  In any action between the parties relating to this Agreement, the prevailing 

party shall be entitled to an award of its attorneys’ fees and costs. 

 

16. Binding Effect; Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of 

and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  This 

Agreement shall be automatically assigned to any purchaser of the Property. Operator and 

Builder shall not assign their rights and responsibilities under this Agreement without the 

written consent of the Landowner, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

17. Amendment.  Any amendments to this Agreement must occur in writing and be executed by 

each Party. 

 

18. Severability. In the event any court of competent jurisdiction holds that any provision of this 

Agreement is illegal and, thus, invalid or unenforceable, such holding shall not invalidate or 

render unenforceable any other provision of this Agreement. 

 

19. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, and all of which taken together shall constitute the agreement of 

the parties.   

 

20. Recording.  Operator shall record this Easement Agreement with the Huerfano County Clerk 

and Recorder. 

 

LANDOWNER 

 

 

___________________________ 

Ramon Bongiovanni 

 

 

 

___________________________ 

Nancy Bongiovanni 

OPERATOR 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Serge Bushman, Managing Member 

Woodcache PBC, a Kansas for Profit 

Corporation 

  

BUILDER 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Serge Bushman, Managing Member 

Wood Cache Completion Corp, a Kansas for 

Profit Corporation 

 

48

Item 6a.



12      

  

49

Item 6a.



13      

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

    )ss 

COUNTY OF ________ ) 

 

 

The foregoing was acknowledged to me this _____ day of November, 2024 by Ramon 

Bongiovanni.  

 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

 

My commission expires:                                                 

___________________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

    )ss 

COUNTY OF ________ ) 

 

 

The foregoing was acknowledged to me this _____ day of November, 2024 by Nancy 

Bongiovanni.  

 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

 

My commission expires:                                                 

___________________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

STATE OF ___________ ) 

    )ss 

COUNTY OF ________ ) 

 

 

The foregoing was acknowledged to me this _____ day of November, 2024 by Serge Bushman 

as Managing Member of Woodcache PBC, a Kansas for Profit Corporation.  

 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

 

My commission expires:                                                 

___________________________________ 

        Notary Public 
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STATE OF ___________ ) 

    )ss 

COUNTY OF ________ ) 

 

 

The foregoing was acknowledged to me this _____ day of November, 2024 by Serge Bushman 

as Managing Member of Wood Cache Completion Corp, a Kansas for Profit Corporation.  

 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

 

My commission expires:                                                 

___________________________________ 

        Notary Public 
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EXHIBIT A TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT: MAP OF PROPERTY 
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EXHIBIT B TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT: CDPHE EXAMPLE COVENANT
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EXHIBIT C TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT: INGRESS/EGRESS CORRIDOR 
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EXHIBIT D TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT: FOOTPRINT OF WOOD 

PRESERVATION PROJECT 
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Wood Cache Completion Corp 

Closure and Post Closure Financial Plan 

Huerfano County Carbon Sequestration Project 

Cell 1 

October 6, 2024 

 

Overview 

This document describes the obligations of Wood Cache, PBC to the state of Colorado 

Department of Health and Environment under 6 CCR 1007-2 Part 1, Section 4.  These 

obligations are financial in nature and request a description of the Wood Cache, PBC plan to 

fulfill them.  This document will be organized in alignment with the regulation.  In addition, an 

accompanying spreadsheet describes expected expenses over time.  This Facility will be in 

operation for approximately 5 years and this submission is for Cell 1 only. 

 

4.1.2 Scope and Applicability 

This facility is located at 4912 County Road 351, La Veta, Co 81055, and has been classified as 

a mono-fill.  These finances are for the initial Cell opening and Closure only, as well as Post 

Closure care for that cell alone in accordance with the process presented in our EDOP.  It is 

estimated that 2,000 tonnes of woody biomass will be collected and buried in this first tranche. 

 

4.1.4 Duration of Financial Assurance Coverage 

The Coverage will begin before this first cell is dug, and will continue for 30 years after Cell 

closure. 

 

4.2 Closure Cost Estimates 

Cell opening and closing will be conducted by either Reed Excavating or H&H Forestry: 

 

Brandon Reed, Owner 

(719) 688 1679 

 

H&H Forestry 

Tyler & Nathaniel Huff, owners 

1108-(719) 250  

 

 

Opening and Closing are expected to occur within 7 weeks of each other, and the fulfillment of 

the Closure requirement is expected in that time frame.  

 

A Quote for cell opening and closing costs from H&H Forestry can be found as an attachment to 

this document and are incorporated into the accompanying spreadsheet.  Specifically, the 

closure costs, based on the estimate are: 

 

Backfill (with Dirt & Logs) 2,000 tonnes Wood    $65,013 
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Backfill costs include grading and preparation of the soil for revegetation per the Design Plan. 

 

Revegetation will be performed by the Landowner and Wood Cache PBC utilizing a local 

Hydroseeding supplier in accordance with NRCS guidance.  A conservative estimate of $3,500 

to initially revegetate has been used primarily for seed and mulch as needed. 

 

 

4.3 Post-Closure Cost Estimates 

Post-Closure care will be provided by Wood Cache, PBC.   

 

Wood Cache Completion Corp has made a good faith effort to describe the ongoing costs of 

monitoring the facility, which can be viewed in the “post-closure” tab of the accompanying 

spreadsheet.  Elements of post-closure costs include: 

 

Revegetation - Based on discussions with local water conservancy and hydrology 

representatives, we have been informed that full revegetation can take up to 5 years.  However, 

we are extending this to 8 years to ensure success.  This post-closure expense is for periodic 

repair to the final cover until fully self-sustaining as grazing land.  

 

Onsite Monitoring - Costs have been estimated for Quarterly site visits per the Operational 

plan.  $250 has been allocated per visit based on local representatives performing the 

Inspections and Testing.  This is based on experience with the pilot performing and 

documenting the Inspections.  8 Hrs. at approximately $30/Hr. 

 

Remote Monitoring - As servers and infrastructure have already been built and paid for, only a 

$250 annual “subscription” will be required for access to the data.  Repair if necessary is 

included in Infrastructure estimate. 

 

Infrastructure - Onsite monitoring and management assets which will require periodic 

maintenance and repair.  This would include above and below ground monitoring equipment as 

well as storage building and other on-site equipment. 

 

Insurance - Insurance represents the right to call upon an external financing source to deal with 

emergencies that might require excavation.  See Section 4.4 below 

 

4.4 Corrective Action Cost Estimates 

Wood Cache, PBC will buy insurance to cover the cost of any necessary Corrective Action.  

Over time, Wood Cache, PBC will self-insure the unlikely need for corrective action. 

 

4.5 Revising Closure, Post-Closure, and Corrective Action Cost Estimates 

● Our cost projections envision a 3% annual inflation rate.  We will adjust these estimates 

each year in accordance with section 4.5.1, Annual Inflation Revision.  

● Funds will be accounted for and released in alignment with 4.5.2 c or d. 
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● Annual and five-year cost estimates will be conducted and shared with the department 

as required. 

 

4.6 Financial Assurance Requirements 

The Financial Assurance mechanism described here is intended to fulfill requirements described 

in this document, as well as those required by governing authorities, including any local 

governing authorities. 

 

The mechanism is also intended to fulfill market and customer requirements, including those 

imposed by carbon credit markets, in which we plan to participate. 

 

As such, the financial assurance requirements described here are intended to cover the 

maximum requirements imposed by a range of authorities, including those of the State of 

Colorado. 

 

4.6.1.D 

In accordance with the options for a financial instrument described here, Wood Cache, PBC will 

seek a surety bond.  The surety bond will align with the language put forward in Appendix A. 

 

Please contact Serge Bushman or Ray Bongiovanni if additional clarification is required. 

 

Serge Bushman 

913 991 7179 

Woodcache.org 

 

Ray Bongiovanni 

940 231 0333 

raybon02@swbell.net 
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Excavation and Closure Estimate 
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4300 Cherry Creek Drive S., Denver, CO 80246-1530 P 303-692-2000  www.colorado.gov/cdphe 

Jared Polis, Governor | Jill Hunsaker Ryan, MPH, Executive Director 
 

 
 
Via Electronic Mail, c/o Sarah Foreman:  sarah.foreman@state.co.us  
 
December 3, 2024 
 
Huerfano County Board of County Commissioners 
401 Main Street 
Walsenburg, CO 81089 
commissioners@huerfano.us  
 
RE: Recommendation for Approval of Certificate of Designation Application – Engineering 

Design and Operations Plan 
 Huerfano Carbon Sequestration Project 
 La Veta, Colorado 
 CDPHERM HAZ SW / Permitting / HRF19 
 
Honorable Commissioners: 
 
This letter is the formal response from the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE 
or Department) Hazardous Materials and Waste Management Division (the Division) regarding Huerfano 
County’s referral for technical review of an application for a certificate of designation as identified below. 
 

“Engineering Design and Operations Plan;” prepared for Wood Cache PBC (Wood Cache); prepared 
by Jesik Consulting (Jesik); dated November 4, 2024; herein referred to as the “EDOP” or 
“application.” 

 
The owner and operator, Wood Cache, is proposing to construct a 19-acre commercial wood waste 
monofill. The monofill would only accept and dispose of natural, unprocessed wood branches and trunks for 
the purpose of carbon sequestration. Huerfano County referred the application to CDPHE pursuant to C.R.S. 
30-20-103 on July 26, 2024. 
 
The Division conducted a comprehensive technical review of the EDOP to determine its compliance with 
the requirements set forth in the Solid Waste Disposal Sites and Facilities Act, Title 30, Article 20, Parts 1 
and 10 (the Solid Waste Act) of the Colorado Revised Statutes (CRS), as amended, and with the regulations 
promulgated thereunder: the Regulations Pertaining to Solid Waste Sites and Facilities, 6 CCR 1007-2, Part 
1 (the Solid Waste Regulations). 
 
It is the determination of the Division that Wood Cache, as the owner and operator of the facility, can 
comply with technical, environmental, and public health standards of the Solid Waste Act and the Solid 
Waste Regulations if the Facility is constructed, operated, monitored and maintained as described in the 
EDOP and with the Division's conditions of recommendation as stated below. Based on the Division’s review 
and determination, the Division recommends, with conditions, that Huerfano County may approve the 
application for the wood waste monofill based on these and any local criteria.   
 
The Division’s recommendation for approval of the application including the final revised EDOP, dated 
November 4, 2024, has the following conditions that must be incorporated into the Certificate of 
Designation, if issued by Huerfano County: 
 

1. In accordance with Section 4 of the Solid Waste Regulations, revised third party financial assurance 
cost estimates for closure and post closure care (financial assurance cost estimate) must be 
submitted to the Division within sixty (60) days of the issuance of the certificate of designation 
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Page 2 of 3 

(the CD). Wood Cache submitted the first revision of the financial assurance cost estimates to the 
Division on October 8, 2024. Once the Division approves the financial assurance estimates, the 
Facility will have thirty (30) days to submit a financial assurance mechanism for review and 
approval. The financial assurance mechanism must be in-place and approved by the Division before 
the start of construction of the Facility. Pursuant to Section 4 of the Solid Waste Regulations, Wood 
Cache must adjust financial assurance cost estimates annually to account for inflation or deflation 
by using the implicit price deflator for the gross domestic product. Additionally, the facility must 
replace the original cost estimate every five (5) years unless otherwise required by the Division. 
 

2. Compliance with this CD requires Wood Cache to comply with the EDOP and any future 
Department-approved EDOP conditions, including both Department approved revisions or additions 
to the EDOP and stand-alone plans necessary to comply with the Solid Waste Act and Regulations. 
Non-compliance of the EDOP as revised constitutes a violation of this CD. This CD need not be 
necessarily amended upon EDOP amendment unless required by the local governing authority. 
CDPHE reserves the right to make unilateral modifications to the EDOP language and conditions at 
any time during the life of the facility, including during the post-closure care period. CDPHE will 
attempt to consult with Huerfano County prior to doing so.  

 
3. In addition to complying with the Division's Solid Waste Regulations, the facility must comply with 

all relevant federal, state, and local regulations, including but not limited to the appropriate 
requirements of the Division of Water Resources, the Water Quality Control Division, and the Air 
Pollution Control Division.  

 
Please also note that provisions of the Solid Waste Act found at CRS 30-20-104 reserve certain factors for 
consideration solely by the local governing authority as part of the review of a certificate of designation 
application. Accordingly, the Division’s review is not intended to, nor did it consider those local land use 
provisions. CRS 30-20-104 also warrants careful consideration by the local governing authority as it contains 
key procedural requirements for the issuance of a certificate of designation related to the timing of public 
notice and the public hearing. 
 
If Huerfano County approves the application, the final EDOP, and the issued certificate of designation or 
resolution containing the certificate of designation, must be placed in the Facility's operating record.  
Please provide a copy of any decision by Huerfano County to the undersigned.   
 
The Division is authorized to bill for its review of technical submittals at a rate of $125 per hour in 
accordance with Section 1.7 of the Regulations. An invoice for the Division’s review of the above-
referenced document will be transmitted to Wood Cache under separate cover. 
 
Should you have any questions about this recommendation or the conditions or if you would like to discuss 
the application, feel free to contact me at 303-692-3316 or sarah.foreman@state.co.us.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Sarah Foreman, PE     Jill Parisi, PE 
Solid Waste Permitting     Solid Waste Permitting 
Engineering Design Unit     Engineering Design Unit Leader 
Solid Waste and Materials Management Program  Solid Waste and Materials Management Program 
Hazardous Materials and Waste Management Division Hazardous Materials and Waste Management Division 
 
  

Digitally signed by Sarah 
Foreman 
Date: 2024.12.03 
09:53:17 -07'00'

Digitally signed by Jill 
Parisi 
Date: 2024.12.03 
10:40:19 -07'00'
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ec: Carl Young – Huerfano County Administrator 
 Serge Bushman – Wood Cache PBC 
 Ray Bongiovanni – Wood Cache PBC 
 Huerfano County Land Use Department 
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4300 Cherry Creek Drive S., Denver, CO 80246-1530 P 303-692-2000  www.colorado.gov/cdphe 

Jared Polis, Governor | Jill Hunsaker Ryan, MPH, Executive Director 
 

Electronic Document Submittal: 
ray@woodcache.org  
 
December 3, 2024 
 
Mr. Ray Bongiovanni 
Woodstone Holdings, LLC 
Wood Cache PBC 
4912 County Road 350 
La Veta, Colorado 81055 
 
Re: CDPHE Approval of the Closure and Post-Closure Financial Plan – Cell 1 
 Huerfano Carbon Sequestration Project, Huerfano County, Colorado 

CDPHERM HAZ SW / Financial Assurance / HRF19 
 
Dear Mr. Bongiovanni, 
 
The Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (“CDPHE” or “Department”) Hazardous 
Materials and Waste Management Division (Division) received the following financial assurance planning 
documents (hereafter referred to as the “Cell 1 Financial Plan”) in October 2024: 
  

“Closure and Post Closure Financial Plan – Huerfano County Carbon Sequestration Project – Cell 1;” 
prepared by Wood Cache PBC (Wood Cache); dated October 6, 2024; received by the Division on 
October 8, 2024. 
 
“Financial Maintenance Model - Cell 1;” prepared by Wood Cache, received by the Division on 
October 8, 2024 and revised on November 21, 2024. 

 
Wood Cache submitted the first revision of the Cell 1 Financial Plan on October 8, 2024. The Division 
provided comments via email on November 21, 2024. Wood Cache responded to the comments on the same 
day and provided a revised version of the spreadsheet titled Financial Maintenance Model – Cell 1.  
 
The Division reviewed the Cell 1 Financial Plan to determine its compliance with the requirements of the 
Solid Waste Disposal Sites and Facilities Act, CRS 30-20-100.5 et. seq (Act), the Regulations Pertaining to 
Solid Waste Sites and Facilities, 6 CCR 1007-2, Part 1 (Regulations), and the Engineering Design & Operations 
Plan (EDOP). Based on its review, the Division has determined that the Cell 1 Financial Plan meets the 
requirements of the Act, Regulations, and EDOP.   
 
Therefore, the Division approves the financial assurance cost estimate as follows:  
 Closure Cost:  $65,000 
 Post-Closure Cost: $64,750 
 Total:   $129,750 

 
Wood Cache should incorporate the Cell 1 Financial Plan into the financial assurance funding submittal and 
submit it to the financial assurance email box (cdphe_haz_financialassurance@state.co.us) as soon as 
possible. Annual inflation updates are also required by April 30th of each year and should also be submitted 
to cdphe_haz_financialassurance@state.co.us. The next five-year revised cost estimate is due by April 30, 
2030 unless design changes to the facility necessitate a new cost estimate before 2030. 
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The Division offers the following comment from its review of the Cell 1 Financial Plan. This comment are for 
information only for incorporation into the next revised cost estimate. No response is required. 
 

1) In future submittals of the Financial Assurance Plan, please clearly state the total closure, post-
closure, and combined costs to facilitate the review of the cost estimates. Costs for opening each 
vault should be separated from the total closure/post-closure cost or not included in the estimate 
at all. 
 

2) The closure costs included do not account for engineering oversight during closure of the vault, 
including soils testing, survey, preparation of the closure report, etc. Please ensure that these 
costs are included in future cost estimates.  

 
Please note that the Division’s approval of the above-referenced document does not preclude separate 
review action by Huerfano County. 
 
The Division is authorized to bill for its review of technical submittals at a rate of $125 per hour pursuant to 
Section 1.7 of the Regulations. An invoice for the Division’s review of the above-referenced document will 
be transmitted under separate cover. 
 
Should you have any questions about this letter please call me at (303)-692-3316 or email me at 
sarah.foreman@state.co.us. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Sarah Foreman, PE     Jill Parisi, PE 
Solid Waste Permitting     Solid Waste Permitting 
Engineering Design Unit     Engineering Design Unit Leader 
Solid Waste and Materials Management Program  Solid Waste and Materials Management Program 
Hazardous Materials and Waste Management Division Hazardous Materials and Waste Management Division 
 
ec: Carl Young – Huerfano County Administrator 
 Serge Bushman – Wood Cache PBC 
 Tanya Gray – CDPHE Financial Assurance Manager 
 Huerfano County Land Use Department 
 

Digitally signed by Sarah 
Foreman 
Date: 2024.12.03 
13:10:31 -07'00'

Digitally signed by Jill 
Parisi 
Date: 2024.12.03 
14:07:03 -07'00'
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Grant Administration Service Agreement 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 GRANT ADMINISTRATION SERVICE AGREEMENT 

THIS GRANT WRITING SERVICE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is dated this  13th day of 
January, 2025. 

    

 

 

 

     

                  

 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

A. The Client is of the opinion that the Contractor has the necessary qualifications, experience, 
and abilities to provide services to the Client. 

 
B. The Contractor is agreeable to providing such services to the Client on the terms and 

conditions set out in this Agreement. 
 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 
IN CONSIDERATION OF the matters described above and of the mutual benefits and obligations set 
forth in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of which consideration is hereby acknowledged, the 
Client and the Contractor (individually the "Party" and collectively the "Parties" to this Agreement) agree 
as follows: 
 
SERVICES PROVIDED 
 
 

1. The Client hereby agrees to engage the Contractor to provide the Client with the following 
services (the "Services"): 

 

• Grant Administration. 
 

2. The Services will also include any other tasks which the parties may agree on.  The Contractor 
hereby agrees to provide such Services to the Client. 
 

TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 

3. The term of this Agreement (the "Term") will begin on the date of this Agreement and will remain 
in full force and effect until the completion of the Services, subject to earlier termination as 
provided in this Agreement.  The Term may be extended with the written consent of the Parties.  

 

                                CLIENT    

Huerfano County 

401 Main Street, Walsenburg, CO 
81089 

                          (the "Client")  

CONTRACTOR 

Southern Colorado Economic 
Development 

District 

 

301 N. Main St., Suite 306A, Pueblo, 
Colorado 81003 

 
(the "Contractor") 
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Grant Administration Service Agreement 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

4. In the event that either Party wishes to terminate this Agreement prior to the completion of the 
Services, that Party will be required to provide 10 days' written notice to the other Party. 

 
PERFORMANCE 

 
5. The Parties agree to do everything necessary to ensure that the terms of this Agreement take 

effect.  
 
CURRENCY 

 
6. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all monetary amounts referred to in this 

Agreement are in USD (US Dollars). 
 
COMPENSATION 

 
7. The Contractor will charge the Client for the Services at the rate of $40.00 per hour for the 

Services (the "Compensation"), not to exceed $5,000. 
 

8. The Contractor will invoice the Client every month.  
 

9. Invoices submitted by the Contractor to the Client are due upon receipt. 
 

10. In the event that this Agreement is terminated by the Client prior to completion of the Services  
but where the Services have been partially performed, the Contractor will be entitled to pro rata       
payment of the Compensation to the date of termination provided that there has been no breach     
of contract on the part of the Contractor. 

 
11. The above Compensation includes all applicable sales tax and duties as required by law. 
 
12. The Contractor will not be reimbursed for any expenses incurred in connection with providing the 

Services of this Agreement.  
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
13. Confidential information (the "Confidential Information") refers to any data or information relating 

to the business of the Client which would reasonably be considered to be proprietary to the 
Client including, but not limited to, accounting records, business processes, and client records 
and that is not generally known in the industry of the Client and where the release of that 
Confidential Information could reasonably be expected to cause harm to the Client.  

 
14. The Contractor agrees that they will not disclose, divulge, reveal, report or use, for any purpose,  
               Any Confidential Information which the Contractor has obtained, except as authorized by the     
               Client or as by law.  The obligations of confidentiality will apply during the Term and will survive  
               indefinitely upon termination of this Agreement.        
 
15. All written and oral information and material disclosed or provided by the Client to the Contractor 

under this Agreement is Confidential Information regardless of whether it was provided before or 
after the date of this Agreement or how it was provided to the Contractor. 
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RETURN OF PROPERTY 
 
16. Upon the expiration of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor will return to the Client any 

property, documentation, records, or Confidential Information which is the property of the Client.  
 
17. In the event that this Agreement is terminated by the Client prior to completion of the Services 

the Contractor will be entitled to recovery form the site or premises where the Services were 
carried out, of any materials or equipment which is the property of the Contractor or, where 
agreed between the Parties, to compensation in lieu of recovery.  

 
CAPACITY/INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
18. In providing the Services under this Agreement it is expressly agreed that the Contractor is acting 

as an independent contractor and not as an employee.  The Contractor and the Client 
acknowledge that this Agreement does not create a partnership or joint venture between them 
and is exclusively a contract for services.  The Client is not required to pay, or make any 
contributions to any social security, local, state or federal tax, unemployment compensation, 
workers' compensation, insurance premium, profit-sharing, pension or any other employee 
benefit for the Contractor during the Term.  The Contractor is responsible for paying, and 
complying with reporting requirements for, all local, state and federal taxes related to payments 
made to the Contractor under this Agreement.  

 

AUTONOMY 
 
19. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Contractor will have full control over working 

time, methods, and decision making in relation to provision of the Services in accordance with 
the Agreement.  The Contractor will work autonomously and not at the direction of the Client.  
However, the Contractor will be responsive to the reasonable needs and concerns of the client.  

 
NO EXCLUSIVITY 
 
20. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement is non-exclusive and that either Party will be free, 

during and after the Term, to engage or contract with third parties for the provision of service 
similar to the Services.  

 
NOTICE 
 
21. All notices, requests, demands or other communications required or permitted by the terms of 

this Agreement will be given in writing and delivered to the Parties at the following addresses: 
 
• Huerfano County 

401 Main Street, Walsenburg, CO 81089 
 

• Southern Colorado Economic Development District 
301 N. Main Street., Suite 306A, Pueblo, Colorado 81003 
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or to such other addresses as either Party may from time to time notify the other and will be 
deemed   to be properly delivered (a) immediately upon being served personally, (b) two days after 
being deposited with the postal service if served by registered mail, or (c) the following day after 
being deposited with an overnight courier.  

 
 
INDEMNIFICATION 
 
22. Except to the extent paid in settlement from any applicable insurance policies, and to the extent 

permitted by applicable law, each Party agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the other Party 
and its respective directors, shareholders, affiliates, officers, agents, employees, and permitted 
successors and assigns against any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities, penalties, 
punitive damages, expenses, reasonable legal fees and costs of any kind or amount whatsoever, 
which result from or arise out of any act or omission of the indemnifying party, its respective 
directors, shareholders, affiliates, officers, agents, employees, and permitted successors and 
assigns that occurs in connection with this Agreement.  This indemnification will survive the 
termination of this Agreement.  

 
 
TIME OF THE ESSENCE 
 
23. Time is of the essence in this Agreement.  No extension or variation of this Agreement will operate 

as a waiver of this provision.  
 

 
SEVERABILITY 
 
24. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held to be invalid or unenforceable in 

whole or in part, all other provisions will nevertheless continue to be valid and enforceable with 
the invalid or unenforceable parts severed from the remainder of this Agreement. 

 
________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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_______________________________________________________________   _________________________________________________________________ 
 

Karl S. Sporleder,      Leslie Mastroianni, Executive Director 
Chairman, Board of County Commissioners  
 

_______________________________________________________________Date  _____________________________________ Date 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

MEETING TYPE: Board of County Commissioners Meeting 

MEETING DATE: January 21, 2025 

ITEM NAME: Approval to Accept Colorado Tourism Office Marketing Grant 

SUBMITTED BY: Robert Gilbert 

SUMMARY: The Huerfano County Tourism Board applied to a Colorado Tourism 

Office Marketing Grant in Fall 2024 that the BOCC previously approved 

and that the CTO subsequently awarded to Huerfano County. 

RECOMMENDATION: Motion to accept the award of a Colorado Tourism Office Marketing 

Grant in the amount of $29,984.66 for the purpose of creating new 

audiovisual marketing materials supporting the County’s tourism industry. 

BACKGROUND: 
 

This grant also has a local match of $15,127.34 for a total project amount 

of $45,112. The local match is accounted for and included in HC 

Tourism’s 2025 budget. The project will be completed within the calendar 

year of 2025 and will include a multiple-day photo/video shoot 

highlighting points of interest throughout Huerfano County, a stargazing 

timelapse video featuring the Spanish peaks, and supporting industry 

sectors such as gravel and mountain biking, as well as historical, arts & 

culture, and geological tourism, among others.  

 

BOARD ACTION TAKEN:   

☐ 

APPROVED 

☐ 

DENIED 

☐ 

OTHER 

SIGNATURE OF THE CHAIR: 

  

NOTES: 
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1/16/25 

Huerfano County Commissioners 

 

Dear Commissioners, 

Huerfano County Economic Development would like to request $5302.88 to support the façade 
and lighting improvement project at 609 Main St. Walsenburg.  Renovation of the Wheelhouse 
building is part of a public/private effort to revitalize downtown Walsenburg.  Lighting up these 
buildings brings interest to our retailers and lights up our streets.   

FrontdoorBack conceived the design on the accompanying pages, the retail design consultants 
brought in through the EDA grant have provided valuable insights to retailers throughout the 
County since they were hired at the beginning of 2024. The façade and lighting project consists 
of installing gooseneck lights and a blade sign on the front of the building, painting the building 
and redoing the sign with the Wheelhouse logo and colors, and installing track lighting in the 
windows and benches framing the doorway.  HCED is applying to the Walsenburg URA for 
match funding and the blade sign is being submitted to the EDA for their support.   

Huerfano County Economic Development looks forward to our continued support for projects 
like the Wheelhouse to create sustainable economic opportunities for new and existing 
businesses in the County.  The façade and lighting project at 609 Main is one example where we 
can collaborate to bring change to downtown.  We are in the process of raising funds to 
purchase the building enabling the facility to be part of long-term public/private resources to 
support economic prosperity. 

Thank you in advance for your time and consideration of this request. 

Sincerely, 

 
 
 
Lola Spradley  
Chair of Huerfano County Economic Development 
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Façade and window project: 609 Main St.  

 

Item Vendor Total cost 
County 
request 

URA request EDA request  

Exterior signage 
lighting  - Blade sign Sign Bracket $395.01  

 $395.01 Purchased 

Exterior signage - 
goosenecks Sign Bracket $756.00 $756.00 

  Purchased 

Exterior signage - 
freight Sign Bracket $159.92 $79.96 

 
$79.96 

purchased 

Track lighting Globe $615.52 $615.52   purchased 

Benches - 
Traditional Style 
Fire Corrosion and 
UV Resistant Metal 
Park Bench for 
Outdoor Worry-Free 
Comfort litfad.com $426.40 $426.40  

  

Install benches Clean Slate $500 $500    

Electrician JAR Electric $3000 $1500 $1500   

 Pecks $2050 $1025 $1025   

Sign Permit    
City of 
Walsenburg  $70 $70 

  purchased 

Painting Clean Slate  $3800 $1900 $1900   

Totals  $8772.85* $5302.88* $2925* $474.96  

*used low bid on electrical for totals 
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PURCHASE ORDER

PO BOX 308  

Vendor: HUERFANO COUNTY ECONOMIC / 7771

Purchase Order#: 2025017

WALSENBURG, CO 81089

Purchase OrderDate: 1/16/2025

Order Description:

Huerfano County

719-738-3000 ext. 210

401 Main Street - 

Walsenburg  CO,  81089
Ship To:

APPROVALS:

Approving Authority:

Budget Officer:

NOTES:

LEDGERQUANTITYDESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL COST

051-47200-518581 $5,302.88Façade Improvement $5,302.88

TOTAL: $5,302.88
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of County Commissioners 
Huerfano County, Colorado 
Walsenburg, Colorado 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Huerfano 
County, Colorado (the County) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the County, as 
of December 31, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the County 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
The County’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 
of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

Denver Office:
750 W. Hampden Avenue, 
Suite 400 
Englewood, 
Colorado 80110
TEL: 303.796.1000
FAX: 303.796.1001
www.HinkleCPAs.com

Office Locations:
Colorado Springs, CO
Denver, CO
Frisco, CO
Tulsa, OK
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control.  Accordingly,
no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the County’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required 
supplementary information such as budgetary comparison information presented on pages 34 -
39, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

The County has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements.  Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not 
affected by this missing information. 

Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements, the local highway finance report and the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  In our opinion, the supplementary information listed in the table of contents is 
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 31, 2024 on our consideration of the County's internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the County's internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the County’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Englewood, Colorado 
December 31, 2024 
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Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 5,556,695      $ 779,517 $ 6,336,212      
Sales Taxes Receivable 321,690         -                    321,690         
Property Taxes Receivable 3,371,621      -                    3,371,621      
Due from Other Governments 2,046,215      -                    2,046,215      
Due from Other Funds 420,000 (420,000)        -                    
Inventories, net 34,588           -                    34,588           
Capital Assets, not being depreciated 2,811,773      2,100,000      4,911,773      
Capital Asser, net of accumulated depreciation 20,747,120    1,341,150      22,088,270    

Total Assets 35,309,702    3,800,667      39,110,369    

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 3,479,112 3,420             3,482,532      
Accrued Salaries 229,562 -                    229,562         
Accrued Interest 560 -                    560                
Unearned Revenue 391,217         -                    391,217         
Long-term Debt
Due within one year 456,426 195,843 652,269         
Due in more than one year 8,410,521 2,706,312 11,116,833    

Total Liabilities 12,967,398    2,905,575      15,872,973    

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 2,846,494      -                    2,846,494      

Total Deferred inflows of resources 2,846,494      -                    2,846,494      

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 14,691,946    -                    14,691,946    
Restricted for Emergencies (TABOR) 318,000         -                    318,000         
Unrestricted, Unreserved 4,485,864      895,092         5,380,956      

Total Net Position $ 19,495,810    $ 895,092         $ 20,390,902    

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2023

Activities Activities Total
Governmental Business-Type

See Notes to Financial Statements.   5
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Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General Government $ 5,767,738    $ 1,383,361    $ 285,748 $ 1,153,264    $ (2,945,365)   $ -                    $ (2,945,365)    
Public Safety 5,157,453 805,948       187,122       -                   (4,164,383)   -                    (4,164,383)    
Public Works 3,311,761    232,373       1,795,956    -                   (1,283,432)   -                    (1,283,432)    
Human Services 2,933,991    -                   2,997,156    -                   63,165         -                    63,165          
Heath and Sanitation 379,925       108,753       70,000         -                   (201,172)      -                    (201,172)       
Culture and Recreation 378,644       223,477 634,306       -                   479,139       -                    479,139        
Interest on Long-Term Debt 408,408 -                   -                   -                   (408,408)      -                    (408,408)       

Total Governmental Activities 18,337,920  2,753,912    5,970,288    1,153,264    (8,460,456)   -                    (8,460,456)    

Business-Type Activities
Correctional Facility 4,778           -                   -                   -                   -                   (4,778)           (4,778)           
Gardner Water and Sewer Improvement District 75,735         104,718       -                   -                   -                   28,983          28,983          
Asset Management Enterprise 752,802 -                   -                   -                   -                   (752,802)       (752,802)       

Total Business-Type Activities 833,315       104,718       -                   -                   -                   (728,597)       (728,597)       

Total Primary Government $ 19,171,235  $ 2,858,630    $ 5,970,288    $ 1,153,264    (8,460,456)   (728,597)       (9,189,053)    

General Revenues
Taxes

Property Tax 2,624,339    -                    2,624,339     
Sales and Use Tax 1,891,622    -                    1,891,622     
Specific Ownership Tax 246,642       -                    246,642        
Other Taxes 1,611,345    -                    1,611,345     

Investment income 290,971       10                 290,981        
Misc. 455,297       -                    455,297        

Transfer (140,000)      140,000 -                    

Total General Revenues and Transfers 6,980,216    140,010        7,120,226     

Change in Net Position (1,480,240)   (588,587)       (2,068,827)    

Net Position, Beginning of Year 20,976,050 1,483,679 22,459,729   

Net Position, End of Year $ 19,495,810  $ 895,092        $ 20,390,902   

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

Operating Primary Government

TotalFunctions/Programs Contributions
Grants and

Capital

Expenses Services
Charges for Grants and

Contributions

See Notes to Financial Statements.   6
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Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 2,168,722      $ 830,384         $ 972,171         $ (542,467)        $ 906,018         $ 1,009,844      $ 212,023         $ 5,556,695      
Taxes Receivable 2,904,467      149,559         391,217         -                     107,230         -                     140,838         3,693,311      
Due from Other Governments -                     -                     2,046,215      -                     -                     -                     -                     2,046,215      
Due from Other Funds -                     -                     -                     400,000         22,500           -                     723,765         1,146,265      
Inventories -                     34,588           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     34,588           

Total Assets $ 5,073,189      $ 1,014,531      $ 3,409,603      $ (142,467)        $ 1,035,748      $ 1,009,844      $ 1,076,626      $ 12,477,074    

 
Liabilities  
Accounts Payable $ 300,478 $ 37,188 $ 2,438,272      $ 739,710         $ 19,539 $ 15,101 $ (71,176)          $ 3,479,112      
Accrued Salaries 174,101         33,276           -                     -                     22,185           -                     -                     229,562         
Due to Other Funds 22,500           -                     -                     -                     -                     703,765         -                     726,265         
Deferred Revenue -                     -                     391,217         -                     -                     -                     -                     391,217         

Total Liabilities 497,079         70,464           2,829,489      739,710         41,724           718,866         (71,176)          4,826,156      
 

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes 2,690,007      15,649           -                     -                     -                     -                     140,838         2,846,494      

Fund Balance  
Restricted for TABOR 200,000         70,000           -                     -                     25,000           -                     5,000             300,000         
Committed -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,001,964      1,001,964      
Unassigned 1,686,103      858,418         580,114         (882,177)        969,024         290,978         -                     3,502,460      

Total Fund Balance 1,886,103      928,418         580,114         (882,177)        994,024         290,978         1,006,964      4,804,424      

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows
of Resources, and Fund Balance $ 5,073,189      $ 1,014,531      $ 3,409,603      $ (142,467)        $ 1,035,748      $ 1,009,844      $ 1,076,626      $ 12,477,074    

Service
Department of

Human Services
Special
Projects Total

Governmental Funds

Huerfano County, Colorado
Balance Sheet

December 31, 2023

General Bridge
Road and

Funds
Governmental

Other
Disaster
Recovery

Emergency
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Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position are Different Because:

Total Fund Balance of Governmental Funds $ 4,804,424      

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds. 23,558,893

Long-term liabilities and related items are not due and payable in the current year and, therefore,
are not reported in governmental funds.
Long-Term Debt (8,494,744)     
Capital Leases Payable (342,225)        
Accrued Compensated Absences (29,978)          
Accrued Interest Payable (560)               

Total Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 19,495,810    

Huerfano County, Colorado
Reconciliation of Balance Sheet of the Governmental Funds

December 31, 2023
to the Statement of Net Position

See Notes to Financial Statements.   8
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Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ 2,481,410      $ 12,754           $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    $ 130,175         $ 2,624,339      
Specific Ownership Tax 231,605         1,409             -                    -                    -                    -                    13,628           246,642         
Sales and Other Tax 2,240,201      1,367             -                    -                    1,131,129      -                    12,491           3,385,188      

Licenses and Permits 237,589         38,372           -                    -                    -                    -                    117,779         393,740         
Charges for Services 1,758,823      194,001         -                    -                    74,538           -                    365,170         2,392,532      
Intergovernmental 199,138         1,795,956      2,997,156 -                    -                    -                    652,685         5,644,935      
Grant Income 7,926             -                    -                    1,360,691      -                    -                    40,000           1,408,617      
Investment Income 290,606         -                    -                    -                    -                    1                   365                290,972         
Miscellaneous 383,976         90,613           -                    50,510           11,494           -                    4,124             540,717         
Total Revenues 7,831,274      2,134,472      2,997,156      1,411,201      1,217,161      1                   1,336,417      16,927,682    

 
Expenditures  
Current
General Government 3,746,759      -                    -                    -                    43,726 -                    395,531         4,186,016      
Public Safety 3,574,369      -                    -                    -                    683,883         197,417         21,447           4,477,116      
Public Works 459,217         2,301,666 -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    2,760,883      
Health Services 258,586         -                    2,933,991 -                    -                    -                    121,339         3,313,916      
Culture and Recreation -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    222,366         222,366         

Capital Outlay 6,401             -                    -                    4,522,719 12,609           -                    25,268           4,566,997      
Debt Service
Principal 265,000         -                    -                    -                    47,462           -                    -                    312,462         
Interest and Fiscal Charges 319,600         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    319,600         
Total Expenditures 8,629,932      2,301,666      2,933,991      4,522,719      787,680         197,417         785,951         20,159,356    

Excess Revenues Over
  (Under) Expenditures (798,658)        (167,194)        63,165           (3,111,518)     429,481         (197,416)        550,466         (3,231,674)     

 
Other Financing Sources (Uses)  
Transfers In 882,040         450,000         -                    -                    -                    34,500           300,000         1,666,540      
Transfers Out -                    -                    -                    (140,000)        (550,000)        -                    (1,046,540)     (1,736,540)     
Other Financing Sources (Uses) 882,040         450,000         -                    (140,000)        (550,000)        34,500           (746,540)        (70,000)         

 
Net Change in Fund Balance 83,382           282,806         63,165           (3,251,518)     (120,519)        (162,916)        (196,074)        (3,301,674)     

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 1,802,721 645,612 516,949 2,369,341 1,114,543 453,894 1,203,038 8,106,098      

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 1,886,103      $ 928,418         $ 580,114         $ (882,177)        $ 994,024         $ 290,978         $ 1,006,964      $ 4,804,424      

Total
Emergency

Service
Special
Projects

Disaster
RecoveryGeneral Bridge

Road and

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Other
Governmental

Funds
Governmental

Funds
Department of

Human Services
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Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities are Different Because:

Net Change in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds $ (3,301,674)           

Capital outlays to purchase or construct capital assets are reported in governmental funds as
expenditures.  However, for governmental activities those costs are capitalized in the statement
of net position and are allocated over their estimated useful lives as annual depreciation expense
in the statement of activities.  
Capital Outlays 2,317,810            
Depreciation Expense (907,757)              

Repayments of long-term liabilities are expenditures in governmental funds, but they reduce long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position and do not affect the statement of activities.
Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt Capital Leases 415,063               
Change in Accrued Compensated Absences (3,795)                  
Change in Accrued Interest Payable 113                      

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ (1,480,240)           

Huerfano County, Colorado
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Notes to Financial Statements.   10
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Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Investments $ 711,495         $ 11,049           $ 56,973           $ 779,517         
Accounts Receivable -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Current Assets 711,495         11,049           56,973           779,517         
 

Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets, not being depreciated 2,100,000      -                     -                     2,100,000      
Capital Assets,
Net of accumulated depreciation -                     2,005             1,339,145      1,341,150      

Total Noncurrent Assets 2,100,000      2,005             1,339,145      3,441,150      

Total Assets 2,811,495      13,054           1,396,118      4,220,667      

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable -                     -                     3,420             3,420             
Due to Other Funds 420,000         -                     -                     420,000         
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 195,843 -                     -                     195,843         

Total Current Liabilities 615,843         -                     3,420             619,263         

Non-Current Liabilities
Notes Payable 2,706,312 -                     -                     2,706,312      

Total Liabilities 3,322,155      -                     3,420             3,325,575      

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 2,100,000      2,005             1,339,145      3,441,150      
Unrestricted (2,610,660)     11,049           53,553           (2,546,058)     

 
Total Net Position $ (510,660)        $ 13,054           $ 1,392,698      $ 895,092         

Total
Management

Enterprise

Asset

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Fund
December 31, 2023

Facility
Correctional Improvement

District

Gardner Water
and Sewer
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Operating Revenues
Charges for Services $ -                     $ -                     $ 104,718         $ 104,718         

Total Operating Revenues -                     -                     104,718         104,718         

Operating Expenses
Contractual Services 752,802 -                     3,951             756,753         
Utilities -                     -                     11,986           11,986           
Repairs and Maintenance -                     -                     10,004           10,004           
Other Supplies and Expenses -                     -                     92                  92                  
Miscellaneous Expenses -                     -                     9,518             9,518             
Depreciation -                     4,778             40,184           44,962           

Total Operating Expenses 752,802         4,778             75,735           833,315         

Net Operating Income  (752,802)         (4,778)             28,983            (728,597)        

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest Income -                     10                  -                     10                  
Transfers In 140,000 -                     -                     140,000         

Change in Net Position (612,802)        (4,768)            28,983           (588,587)        

Net Position, Beginning of Year 102,142 17,822 1,363,715 1,483,679      

Net Position, End of Year $ (510,660)        $ 13,054           $ 1,392,698      $ 895,092         

Asset
Management

Enterprise Total

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Gardner Water

Facility
Correctional Improvement

District

and Sewer
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash Received from Customers $ -                     $ -                     $ 104,718        $ 104,718         
Cash Paid to Suppliers (752,802)       -                     (33,411)         (786,213)        

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (752,802)       -                     71,307          (681,495)        

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Transfers In 140,000         -                     -                     140,000         
Interest Received -                     10                  -                     10                  

Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities 140,000         10                  -                     140,010         

Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities
Principal Payments on Capital Debt and Leases 1,242,710      -                     -                     1,242,710      

1,242,710      -                     -                     1,242,710      

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 629,908         10                  71,307          701,225         

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 81,587           11,039           (14,334)         78,292           

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 711,495         $ 11,049           $ 56,973          $ 779,517         

Reconciliation of Net Operating Income to
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:    
Net Operating Income $ (752,802)       $ (4,778)            $ 28,983          $ (728,597)        
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income to
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Depreciation Expense -                     4,778             40,184          44,962           
Changes in Assets and Liabilities Related to Operations
   Accounts Payable -                     -                     2,140             2,140             

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ (752,802)       $ -                     $ 71,307          $ (681,495)        

Management
Asset 

Total

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Gardner Water
and Sewer

Improvement
DistrictFacility

Correctional
Enterprise
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Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Investments $ 364,636         

Total Assets 364,636         

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Due to Other Governments 364,636         

Total Current Liabilities 364,636         

Net Position
Unrestricted -                    

 
Total Net Position $ -                    

Funds

Huerfano County, Colorado
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2023

Agency

See Notes to Financial Statements.  14
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 
 
 

15 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The financial statements of the Huerfano County, Colorado (the County) have been prepared in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental 
entities.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The 
more significant of the County’s accounting policies are described below.  
 
Reporting Entity 
 
The County is a political subdivision organized under the statues of the State of Colorado.  The 
County is governed by a three-member Board of County Commissioners (the Board).  Each 
commissioner is elected at large by the voters of the County to represent one of the three separate 
districts and must reside in the district for which he or she is elected.  There are also six other 
elected officials - assessor, clerk and recorder, coroner, sheriff, surveyor and treasurer.  The 
treasurer is also the County Public Trustee. 
 
The County provides a wide range of services to its residents including general administration, 
public safety, highways and streets, health and human services, public improvements, planning, 
zoning, airport, predatory animal and weed control. 
 
Component Units 
 
The County’s combined financial statements include the accounts of all County operations.  The 
criteria for including organizations as component units within the County’s reporting entity, as set 
forth in Section 2100 of GASB’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards, include whether: 
 

 The organization is legally separate (can sue and be sued in their own name). 
 The County holds the corporate powers of the organization. 
 The County appoints a voting majority of the organization’s board. 
 The County is able to impose its will on the organization. 
 The organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the County. 
 There is fiscal dependency by the organization on the County. 
 The organization is financially accountable to the County. 
 The organization receives or holds funds that are for the benefit of the County; and the 

County has access to the majority of the funds held; and the funds that are accessible are 
also significant to the County. 

 
Based on the application of these criteria, there are no component units included in the County’s 
reporting entity. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement 
of activities) report information on all activities of the County and its component units.  For the 
most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Exceptions 
to this general rule are charges for interfund services that are reasonably equivalent to the 
services provided.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to 
a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of the given 
function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges 
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.   
 
Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues.   
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds.  Major 
individual funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as 
soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when 
they are collected within the current year or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current 
year.  For this purpose, the County considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 
60 days of the end of the current year.  
 
Taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and interest associated with the current year are considered 
to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current year.  All 
other revenues are considered measurable and available only when cash is received by the 
County.  
 

131

Item 7f.



Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 
 
 

17 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued) 
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, 
are recorded only when payment is due.  
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a fund’s principal ongoing operations.  Operating expenses 
for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and 
depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported 
as nonoperating revenues and expenses.   
 
In the fund financial statements, the County reports the following major governmental funds:  
 
The General Fund - Is the County’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources 
of the County, except those accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Road and Bridge Fund - This fund accounts for maintenance of all county roads and bridges 
which includes salaries and benefits and other expenses related to maintenance.  The main 
revenues are highway users trust fund receipts and property taxes.  The fund also sells fuel to 
other departments and governmental agencies within the County. 
 
The Human Service Fund - This fund accounts for the public welfare costs paid to qualifying 
clients.  The majority of federal funds expended are incurred through this fund.  In addition to the 
federal funds received this fund also receives state funds and property taxes. 
 
The Special Projects Fund - This fund accounts for certain projects and specific funds received 
that are for the overall good of the County that are not classified as being from one particular fund. 
 
The Emergency Services Fund - During 2009, the voters approved an additional 1% sales tax to 
be used for emergency/dispatch services for all residents of the County. 
 
The Disaster Recovery Fund - This fund accounts for grants and other funds received to use for 
disaster recovery projects. 
 
Proprietary fund financial statements are used to account for activities which are similar to those 
found in the private sector.  The measurement focus is based upon determination of net income, 
financial position, and cash flows.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued) 
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting as follows: 
 

 Revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are recognized when the liabilities 
are incurred. 

 Current-year contributions, administrative expenses, and premium payments, which are 
not received or paid until the subsequent years, are considered to be incurred.  

 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current) 
are included on the Statement of Net Position.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position presents increases (revenue) and decreases (expenses) in total net 
position.  Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which 
they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.  
Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the 
primary operations of the fund.  All other revenues are reported as non-operating revenues.  
Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operating of the fund.  
All other expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.  
 
The County reports the following major proprietary funds:  
 
Correctional Facility - This fund accounts for funds received from a contract with CCA for the 
housing of prisoners.  Currently no revenues of a material amount are being received as the local 
prison was closed. 
 
Gardner Water & Sewer Improvement District - During 2011 the voters of the County approved a 
ballot question authorizing the County to take over operations of the improvement district.  The 
fund accounts for water and sewer services to the Gardner area. 
 
The County reports the following non-major funds: 
 
Conservation Trust Fund - This fund accounts for lottery proceeds required to be expended solely 
on park and recreation improvements.  
 
P.I.L.T Fund - This fund accounts for payments in lieu of taxes received from the federal 
government due to the amount of federally owned land in the County.  The funds can be spent 
for any legal purpose.  
 
Retirement Fund - This fund receives the Colorado Retirement Association (CRA) contributions 
from the eligible employees of each fund and pays the employee's and employer's share for the 
benefit of each eligible employee's retirement.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued) 
 
Federal Forest Project Fund - This fund accounts for reimbursements received for search and 
rescue missions and for the cost of those missions.  
 
Lodging Tax Tourism Fund - During 2006 the voters approved a lodging tax that is levied against 
each hotel or motel room rented.  The funds collected will be spent for economic development. 
 
Waste Transfer Station Fund - This fund accounts for the fees and related costs of operating a 
waste transfer station. 
 
Fiduciary fund financial statements consist of the Agency Fund established to record transactions 
relating to assets held by the County as an agent for individuals, governmental entities, and non-
profit organizations.  Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not 
involve measurement of results of operations. 
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34 in regard to 
interfund activities, payables and receivables.  All internal balances in the Statement of Net 
Position have been eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental 
activities and the business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances and 
eliminated in the total primary government column.  In the Statement of Activities, internal service 
fund transactions have been eliminated; however, those transactions between governmental and 
business-type activities have not been eliminated. 
 
The County applies all applicable GASB pronouncements to the business-type activities.  
Reconciliation of the Fund financial statements to the Government-Wide financial statements is 
provided in the financial statements to explain the differences created by the integrated approach 
of GASB Statement No. 34. 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balances 
 
Cash Equivalents - For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are defined as 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.  The County considers all pooled 
cash and investments to be cash equivalents. 
 
Receivables - Receivables are reported at their gross value and, where appropriate, are reduced 
by the estimated portion that is expected to be uncollectible.  
 
Inventory - Inventory is valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.  Inventory in the 
Road and Bridge Fund consists of expendable supplies held for use.  Reported inventories are 
equally offset by a fund balance reserve, which indicates that they do not constitute "available 
spendable resources", even though they are a component of net current assets.  Inventory policy 
on government-wide statements is consistent with fund statements. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balances (Continued) 
 
Interfund Receivables and Payables - During the course of operations, certain transactions occur 
between individual funds.  The resulting receivables and payables are classified on the balance 
sheet as interfund receivables and interfund payables.  Any residual balances outstanding 
between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-
wide financial statements as internal balances.  
 
Prepaid Expenses - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting 
periods and are reported as prepaid expenses using the consumption method.  
 
Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include land, buildings, equipment, and all infrastructure 
owned by the County, are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary funds in the fund 
financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the County as assets with an initial, individual 
cost of $5,000 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated 
capital assets are recorded at the acquisition value on the date of donation.  The costs of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend asset lives 
are not capitalized.  
 
Capital assets of the County are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives.  
 

Infrastructure                                                                                                      75 years  
Buildings & Improvements                                                                          50 - 75 years 
Furniture & Fixtures                                                                                      7 - 10 years  
Machinery, Equipment, & Vehicle                                                                5 – 10 years 

 
It is the County’s policy to capitalize all infrastructure purchased after July 1, 1980. 
 
Compensated Absences - Employees of the County are allowed to accumulate unused vacation 
and sick time depending on the length of employment.  Upon termination of employment from the 
County, an employee will be compensated for all accrued vacation time at their current rate of 
pay.  If an employee has unused sick time and ceases employment with the county, the sick time 
is cancelled and there is no provision for payment for unused sick leave. 
 
Accumulated, unpaid vacation time is accrued when earned in the government-wide financial 
statements and the proprietary funds in the fund financial statements.  A liability is recorded in the 
governmental fund financial statements only when payment is due.  
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balances (Continued) 
 
Long-Term Debt - In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary funds in the 
fund financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities.  Debt premiums, discounts and accounting losses resulting from debt refunding’s are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the debt using the straight-line method.  In the 
governmental fund financial statements, the face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources 
while discounts are reported as other financing uses.  
 
Debt issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the debt proceeds, are reported as current 
expenses or expenditures.  
 
Deferred Inflows of Resources - In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and the 
governmental fund balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net position and/or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The government has two types 
of items which arise both under the full accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting that 
qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the items, property taxes and unavailable 
grant revenue, are reported in both the governmental activities statement of net position and in 
the governmental funds balance sheet.  The governmental funds report deferred inflows of 
resources from property taxes and unavailable grant revenue.  These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.  Since 
property tax revenues are collected in arrears during the succeeding year, a receivable and 
corresponding deferred inflow of resources is recorded at December 31.  As the tax is collected 
in the succeeding year, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue and the 
receivable is reduced. 
 
Fund Equity - In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report non-spendable amounts 
that are (a) not in spendable form or (b) are legally or contractually required to be maintained 
intact.  The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted 
to cash such as inventories, prepaid items, long-term notes receivable and fund advances.  
Restrictions of fund balance represents amounts that are restricted for specific fund purposes 
stipulated by external resource providers constitutionally or through enabling legislation. 
 
Committed fund balances include amounts that can only be used for the specific purposes 
determined by the passage of a resolution by the Board of County Commissioners.  Commitments 
may be modified or changed only by the Board of County Commissioners approving a new 
resolution.  Assigned fund balance includes amounts intended to be used by the County for 
specific purposes that are neither restricted nor committed.  Intent is expressed by the County 
Administrator.  Unassigned fund balance includes amounts that do not meet any of the above 
criteria.  The County may report positive unassigned fund balances only in the general fund and 
negative unassigned fund balances may be reported in all funds. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Position/Fund Balances (Continued) 
 
Net Position - The County’s net position is classified in the following components: 
 

 Net Investment in Capital Assets - This component consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, 
notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets.  If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds, the 
portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included in the calculation 
of net investment in capital assets.  Rather, that portion of the debt is included in the same 
net position component as the unspent proceeds.  

 Restricted - This component consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources related to those assets.  Restricted assets are assets which 
have restrictions placed on the use of the assets through external constraints imposed by 
creditors (such as through debt covenants), contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation.  Generally, a liability relates to restricted assets if the asset results from a 
resource flow that also results in the recognition of a liability or if the liability will be 
liquidated with the restricted assets reported. 

 Unrestricted - This component consists of the net amount of assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the 
determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted component of net 
position. 

 
Property Taxes 
 
Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property on January 1, are levied the following 
December, and collected in the subsequent year.  Taxes are payable in full on April 30 or in two 
installments on February 28 and June 15.  The County Treasurer’s Office collects property taxes 
and remits to the County on a daily basis.  Since property tax revenues are collected in arrears 
during the succeeding fiscal year, receivables and corresponding deferred inflows of resources 
are reported at year end.  
 
Leases   
 
The County is a party as a lessor and lessee for various noncancellable long-term leases of 
buildings, equipment, and land.  The corresponding lease receivable or lease payable, are 
recorded in an amount equal to the present value of the expected future minimum lease payments 
received, respectively, discounted by an applicable interest rate. 
 
Blended Component Unit 
 
During 2022, the County created the Huerfano County Asset Management Corporation, a non-
profit organization.  This organization is accounted as a blended component unit as the Board of 
Directors and management of the corporation are the same as the County. 
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Unearned Revenue   
 
Unearned revenues include amounts recorded in accounts receivable activities prior to the end 
of the fiscal year but related to the subsequent accounting period.  Unearned revenues also 
include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors that have not yet been earned. 
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The County has evaluated subsequent events for recognition or disclosure through December 
31, 2024, the date the financial statements were available for issuance. 
 
 
Note 2:  Cash and Investments 
 
A summary of cash and investments at December 31, 2023, follows:  
 

Cash and investments are reported in the financial statements as follows:  
 

Cash Deposits 
 
The Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) requires all local government entities to 
deposit cash in eligible public depositories.  Eligibility is determined by State regulations.  
Amounts on deposit in excess of federal insurance levels must be collateralized by eligible 
collateral as determined by the PDPA.  The PDPA allows the financial institution to create a single 
collateral pool for all public funds held.  The pool is to be maintained by another institution or held 
in trust for all uninsured public deposits as a group.  The market value of the collateral must be at 
least equal to 102% of the uninsured deposits.  At December 31, 2023, the County had bank 
deposits of $2,066,396 collateralized with securities held by the financial institutions’ agents but 
not in the County’s name. 

Petty Cash $ 3,380             
Cash Deposits 1,830,929       
Investments 4,881,948       
Total $ 6,716,257       

Cash and Investments $ 6,336,212       
Agency Fund Cash 364,636          
Total $ 6,716,257       
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Note 2:  Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 
Investments 
 
The County is required to comply with State statutes which specify investments meeting defined 
rating, maturity, and concentration risk criteria in which the County may invest, which include the 
following.  Custodial risk is not addressed by State statutes.  
 

 Obligations of the United States and certain U.S. Agency securities. 
 Certain international agency securities. 
 General obligation and revenue bonds of U.S. local government entities. 
 Bankers’ acceptances of certain banks. 
 Commercial paper. 
 Local government investment pools. 
 Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities. 
 Certain money market funds. 
 Guaranteed investment contracts (GICs). 

 
At December 31, 2023, the County had the following investments with the following maturities: 
 

Fair Value Measurements - The County reports its investments using the fair value measurements 
established by generally accepted accounting principles.  As such, a fair value hierarchy 
categorizes the inputs used to measure the fair value of the investments into three levels.  Level 
1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical investments; Level 2 inputs include 
quoted prices in active markets for similar investments, or other observable inputs; and Level 3 
inputs are unobservable inputs.  At December 31, 2023, the County’s investments as shown 
above were measured utilizing quoted prices in active markets for similar investments (Level 2 
inputs).  
 
Interest Rate Risk - State statutes generally limit the maturity of investment securities to five years 
from the date of purchase unless the governing board authorizes the investment for a period in 
excess of five years. 
 
Credit Risk - State statutes limit certain investments to those with specified ratings from nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, depending on the type of investment.  

S&P Rating
Mutual Funds N/A $ 721,944       $ 721,944       $ -                   
Local Government Pools N/A     1,325,607 1,325,607    -                   
Money Market Funds N/A        556,373 556,373       -                   
Government Bonds AA+        345,079 -                   345,079       
Corporate Bonds BB- to BBB-        430,978 -                   430,978       
Municipal Bonds AA to A2        454,442 -                   454,442       
Certificate of Deposits N/A     1,047,525 -                   1,047,525    

$ 4,881,948    $ 2,603,924    $ 2,278,024    

Amount
Carrying Less Than

One Year
Less Than
Five Years
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Note 2:  Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 
Investments (Continued) 
 
Local Government Investment Pools - At December 31, 2023, the County had $831,111 and 
$1,435,776 invested in the Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust (Colotrust) and the 
Colorado Surplus Asset Fund Trust (CSAFE), respectively.  The pools are investment vehicles 
established for local government entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds.  The Colorado Division 
of Securities administers and enforces the requirements of creating and operating the pools.  The 
pools operate in conformity with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Rule 2a-7.  The pools 
are measured at the net asset value per share, with each share valued at $1.  The pools are rated 
AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.  Investments of the pools are limited to those allowed by State 
statutes.  A designated custodial bank provides safekeeping and depository services in 
connection with the direct investment and withdrawal functions.  The custodian’s internal records 
identify the investments owned by the participating governments.  
 
 
Note 3:  Capital Assets  
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2023, is summarized below: 
 

 

Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated

Land $ 639,334         $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ 639,334         
Construction in Progress 59,183           2,172,439      -                     (59,183)          2,172,439      

Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 698,517         2,172,439      -                     (59,183)          2,811,773      

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated
Infrastructure 1,098,994      -                     -                     -                     1,098,994      
Buildings 29,179,122    -                     -                     59,183           29,238,305    
Machinery & Equipment 10,055,553    145,371         -                     -                     10,200,924    
Right to Use Leases 466,885         -                     -                     -                     466,885         

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 40,800,554    145,371         -                     59,183           41,005,108    

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Infrastructure (102,571)        (14,649)          -                     -                     (117,220)        
Buildings (10,674,407)   (589,656)        -                     -                     (11,264,063)   
Machinery & Equipment (8,518,201)     (228,697)        -                     -                     (8,746,898)     
Right to Use Leases (55,052)          (74,755)          -                     -                     (129,807)        

Total Accumulated Depreciation (19,350,231)   (907,757)        -                     -                     (20,257,988)   

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net 21,450,323    (762,386)        -                     59,183           20,747,120    

Governmental Activities, Capital Assets, Net $ 22,148,840    $ 1,410,053      $ -                     $ -                     $ 23,558,893    

Balance Balance
12/31/2022 Additions Transfer Deletions 12/31/2023
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Note 3:  Capital Assets (Continued) 
 

Depreciation expense for the governmental activities was charged to programs of the County as 
follows: 
 

Depreciation expense for the business-type activities was charged to programs of the County as 
follows: 
 

 

Governmental Activities

General Government $ 240,557            
Public Safety 508,386            
Public Works 155,625            

Culture and Recreation 3,189                
Human Services -                       

$ 907,757            

Business-Type Activities
Correctional Facility $ 4,778                

Gardner Water & Sewer Improvement District 40,184              

$ 44,962              

Business-type Activities
Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated

Land - Thorne Ranch $ 2,100,000      $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ 2,100,000      
Construction in Progress -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated 2,100,000      -                     -                     -                     2,100,000      

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated
Distribution Assets 1,538,137      -                     -                     -                     1,538,137      
Equipment and Vehicles 622,853         -                     -                     -                     622,853         

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated 2,160,990      -                     -                     -                     2,160,990      

Less Accumulated Depreciation
Distribution Assets (507,609)        (40,184)          -                     -                     (547,793)        
Equipment and Vehicles (267,269)        (4,778)            -                     -                     (272,047)        

Total Accumulated Depreciation (774,878)        (44,962)          -                     -                     (819,840)        

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net 1,386,112      (44,962)          -                     -                     1,341,150      

Business-type Activities, Capital Assets, Net $ 3,486,112      $ (44,962)          $ -                     $ -                     $ 3,441,150      

Balance Balance
12/31/2022 Additions Transfer Deletions 12/31/2023
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Note 4:  Long-Term Debt 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the governmental activities for the 
year ended December 31, 2023:  
 

Business-Type Activities  
 
The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the Business-Type activities for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 
 

Certificates of Participation 
 
During 2019, the County issued Certificates of Participation (COPs) for a new Judicial Center, the 
Judicial Center Facilities Project.  The COPs will end at one of three occurrences; the County 
does not appropriate enough money to make the annual payments, the lease is paid in full before 
the maturity of the lease, or all the lease payments are made as required.  Upon making all lease 
payments as required the property will belong to the County. 
 
The lease requires semi-annual interest payments due on June 1 and December 1 of each year 
beginning December 1, 2020.  The interest on the lease is 4.0% annually.  The bonds are callable 
in 2029.   
 
At the 2018 election, County electors approved an increase in the County’s sales tax rate by 1%, 
with such sales tax effective January 1, 2020, with a factional sunset of such tax on December 
31, 2039, to a permanent rate of 0.25%.  The County is allowed to collect and spend or reserve 
all revenues received from the tax for the purpose of providing continued operations of such 
facilities. 
 

Balance Balance Due Within
Governmental Activities 12/31/22 Additions Payments 12/31/23 One Year

COP - Judicial Center $ 7,990,000    $ -                   $ (265,000)      $ 7,725,000    $ 280,000       
   Premium on COPs 847,818       -                   (78,074)        769,744       75,484         
Leases Payable (GASB 87) 414,214       -                   (71,989)        342,225       70,964         
Compensated Absences 26,183         3,795           -                   29,978         29,978         

  Total Governmental Activities $ 9,278,215    $ 3,795           $ (415,063)      $ 8,866,947    $ 456,426       

Balance Balance Due Within
Business-Type Activities 12/31/22 Additions Reductions 12/31/23 One Year

Note Payable Thorne Ranch $ 1,659,445    $ -                   $ (91,382)        $ 1,568,063    $ 57,846         
Note Payable Asset Management -                   1,380,092    (46,000)        1,334,092    137,997       

  Total Business-Type Activities $ 1,659,445    $ 1,380,092    $ (137,382)      $ 2,902,155    $ 195,843       

142

Item 7f.



Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 
 
 

28 

Note 4:  Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
The annual debt service for the Certificates of Participation are as follows: 
 

Lease Liabilities   
 
During 2020, the County entered into a lease purchase agreement for a CAT 140 motor grader.  
The terms of the agreement call for monthly payments of $5,076 for 60 months including interest 
at 3.65%.  At the end of the lease the County has the option to purchase the motor grader for $1.  
The County exercised this option as it paid off the lease balance as of December 31, 2022. 
 
During September 2021, the Huerfano County Sheriff's Office entered into an agreement with 
Motorola Solutions, Inc. for the purchase on new radio equipment.  The terms of the lease were 
for 5 years, with a nominal interest rate of 2.870% with principal and interest payments in the 
amount of $65,747 were to commence on October 1, 2022.  The equipment was not delivered 
and did not become operational until summer of 2023.  Title and interest of equipment therefore 
became effective in 2023.  The first principal and interest payment were made on October 26, 
2022.  Subsequently, the lease was paid in full on December 5, 2022.    
 
The County, as a lessee, has entered into lease agreements involving equipment and sand and 
gravel quarries.  The annual principal and interest installments total approximately $60,000 to 
$80,000.  Interest rates range from 1.00% to 2.06%. 
 
The annual debt service for the leases are as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Interest
2024 $ 280,000       $ 309,000       $ 589,000       
2025 300,000       297,800       597,800       
2026 315,000       285,800       600,800       
2027 330,000       273,200       603,200       
2028 355,000       260,000       615,000       
2029-2033 2,100,000    1,069,800    3,169,800    
2034-2038 2,720,000    602,400       3,322,400    
2039 1,325,000    53,000         1,378,000    

  Total $ 7,725,000    $ 3,151,000    $ 10,876,000  

TotalPrincipal

Payment Interest Principal RTU Amortization Net RTU

2024 $ 77,062           $ 6,098             $ 70,964           $ 72,510           264,567         
2025 77,060           4,704             72,356           72,510           192,057         
2026 76,831           3,288             73,543           72,288           119,769         
2027 59,539           1,946             57,593           55,762           64,008           
2028 69,869           2,101             67,768           64,008           -                 

Total $ 360,361         $ 18,137           $ 342,224         $ 337,078         

143

Item 7f.



Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2023 
 
 

29 

Note 4:  Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
Note Payable 
 
During June of 2022, Huerfano County, through its blended component unit the Huerfano County 
Asset Management Corporation, acquired land known as the Thorne Ranch for $2,100,000.  The 
funds used to acquire the property were obtained with a loan of $420,000 from the Special 
Projects Fund and a $1,680,000 bank loan.  
 
The note payable bank loan matures on August 1, 2042.  The agreement calls for annual 
payments of $129,548 which comprise of both principal and interest, beginning on August 1, 2023.  
 
The annual debt service for the note payable is as follows: 
 

During June of 2022, Huerfano County, through its blended component unit the Huerfano County 
Asset Management Corporation, executed a promissory note with San Isabel Electric Association 
in the amount of $1,080,157.  The proceeds on this note were first drawn down in May of 2023.  
These funds are being used to complete energy upgrades to County facilities.  
 
The promissory notes is at 0% interest and with monthly installments until May 2034.  The 
agreement calls for annual payments of $146,497 which is comprised of both principal and 
program fees.  
 
The annual debt service for the promissory note payable is as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31, Program Fee
2024 $ 137,997       $ 8,500           $ 146,497       
2025 137,997       8,500           146,497       
2026 137,997       8,500           146,497       
2027 137,997       8,500           146,497       
2028 137,997       8,500           146,497       
2029-2033 641,480       42,500         683,980       
2034 2,627           708              3,335           

  Total $ 1,334,092    $ 85,708         $ 1,419,800    

Principal Total

Year Ending December 31, Interest
2024 $ 57,846         $ 71,702         $ 129,548       
2025 60,431         69,116         129,547       
2026 63,132         66,415         129,547       
2027 65,955         63,593         129,548       
2028 68,903         60,645         129,548       
2029-2033 393,561       254,178       647,739       
2034-2038 489,746       157,994       647,740       
2039-2042 368,489       41,528         410,017       

  Total $ 1,568,063    $ 785,171       $ 2,353,234    

Principal Total
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Note 5: Interfund and Component Unit Balances and Transactions  
 
Interfund transfers during the year ended December 31, 2023, consisted of the following: 
 

 
Note 6:  Retirement Plans 
 
Defined Contribution Plan 
 
The County provides pension benefits for all eligible full-time employees through an agent 
multi-employer public retirement system, the Colorado County Officials and Employees 
Retirement Association (CCOERA), a defined contribution plan. 
 
In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on the amounts contributed to the plan 
plus investment earnings.  Full-time employees are eligible to participate after completing 1 year 
of service.  The County has established that employees contribute 4% and the County 
contributes a matching 4% of the employee's wages each bi-weekly pay period.  The County's 
contributions for each employee (and interest allocated to the employee's account) are fully 
vested after five years of continuous planning participation.  The participants in this plan are 
offered various investment options through the plan and are allowed to invest all monies in 
their account, at their own discretion, among the options. 
 
County contributions for, and interest forfeited by, employees who leave employment before 
five years of participation are used to reduce the County's current contribution requirements. 
 
The County's total payroll in 2023 was approximately $6,578,496, of which qualifying 
compensation was $4,987,406.  Both the County and the covered employees made the 
required contributions, amounting to approximately $199,454 from each the County and from 
employees.  The County had forfeitures of $11,077 that were used to pay part of their 
contributions.  Plan provisions and contribution requirements are established and may be 
amended by the Board of County Commissioners.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
the Colorado Retirement Association, formerly CCOERA, 751 South Park Drive, Littleton, CO 
80120 or by calling 1-800-352-0313. 
 
 
Note 7:  Colorado Contraband Forfeiture Act 
 
The County has reviewed financial activities in the Sheriff's Department for compliance with the 
above referenced act.  There were no sales of contraband during the year ended December 31, 
2023.  
 
 

General Fund Asset Management Fund $ 162,040         
Road & Bridge Fund P.I.L.T 150,000         
Parks and Recreation Fund Emergency Services Fund 150,000         

Total $ 462,040         

Transfers In Transfers Out Amount
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Note 8:  TABOR Amendment Reserve 
 
In November 1992, Colorado voters amended Article X of the Colorado Constitution by adding 
section 20; commonly known as the Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights (TABOR).  TABOR contains 
revenue, spending, tax, and debt limitations that apply to the State of Colorado and local 
governments.  TABOR requires, with certain exceptions, advance voter approval for any new tax, 
tax rate policy change directly causing a net tax revenue gain to any local government.  
 
The initial base for local government spending and revenue limits is 1992 fiscal year spending.  
Future spending and revenue limits are determined based on the prior year’s fiscal spending 
adjusted for inflation in the prior calendar year plus annual local growth.  Fiscal year spending is 
generally defined as expenditures and reserve increases with certain exceptions.  Revenue, if 
any, in excess of fiscal year spending limits must be refunded in the next fiscal year unless voters 
approve retention of such revenue. 
 
Except for refinancing bonded debt at a lower interest rate or adding new employees to existing 
pension plans, TABOR requires advance voter approval for the creation of any multiple-fiscal year 
debt or other obligation unless adequate present cash reserves are pledged irrevocably and held 
for payments in all future fiscal years. 
 
TABOR also required local governments to establish emergency reserves to be used for declared 
emergencies only.  Emergencies, as defined by TABOR, exclude economic conditions, revenue 
shortfalls, or salary or fringe benefit increases.  These reserves are required to be 3% or more of 
the fiscal year spending for the fiscal year ending after December 31, 1995.  Fiscal year spending 
excludes enterprise spending.  The County has reserved a portion of the December 31, 2023 
year-end balances in the General Fund for this purpose in the aggregate amount of $318,000, 
which is the approximate required emergency reserve. 
 
 
Note 9:  Risk Management 
 
Colorado Counties Casualty and Property Pool (CAPP) 
 
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to property and casualty losses.  The 
County joined together with other counties in the State of Colorado to form the Colorado Counties 
Casualty and Property Pool (CAPP), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common 
risk management and insurance program for member counties.  The County pays an annual 
contribution to CAPP for its property and casualty insurance coverage.  The inter-governmental 
agreement of formation of CAPP provides that the pool will be financially self-sustaining through 
member contributions and additional assessments, if necessary, and the Pool will purchase 
excess insurance through commercial companies for members' claims in excess of a specified 
self-insured retention that is determined each policy year.  There have been no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage.  Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded insurance 
coverage for the current year or the three prior years. 
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Note 9:  Risk Management (Continued) 
 
Colorado Workers' Compensation Pool (CWCP) 
 
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to injuries of employees while on the job.  
The County has joined together with other counties in the State of Colorado to form the Colorado 
Workers' Compensation Pool (CWCP), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common 
risk management and insurance program for member counties.  The County pays an annual 
contribution to CWCP for its workers' compensation insurance coverage.  The intergovernmental 
agreement of formation of CWCP provides that the pool will be financially self-sustaining through 
member contributions and additional assessments, if necessary, and the Pool will purchase 
excess insurance through commercial companies for members' claims in excess of a specified 
self- insured retention that is determined each policy year.  There have been no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage.  Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded insurance 
coverage for the current year or the three prior years. 
 
 
Note 10:  Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Grant Programs 
 
The County participates in a number of federal and state grant programs.  These programs are 
subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives.  The number of 
expenditures, if any, which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at 
this time, although the County expects any such amounts to be immaterial. 
 
Litigation 
 
The County is a party to various legal actions normally associated with governmental activities, 
the aggregate effect of which, in managements and legal counsel’s opinion, would not be material 
to its financial statements. 
 
Insurance Pools 
 
The County is a member of the Colorado Counties Casualty and Property Pool (CAPP) and the 
Colorado Workers' Compensation Pool (CWCP).  CAPP and CWCP have a legal obligation for 
claims against its members to the extent that funds are available in their annually established loss 
funds and amounts are available from insurance providers under excess specific and aggregate 
insurance contracts.  Losses incurred in excess of loss funds are direct liabilities of the 
participating members.  CAPP and CWCP have indicated that the amount of any excess losses 
would be billed to members in proportion to their contributions in the year such excess occurs.  
The ultimate liability to the County resulting from claims not covered by CAPP and CWCP is not 
presently determinable. 
 
 
 

147

Item 7f.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
 

148

Item 7f.



 
 

Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ 2,511,758      $ 2,511,758      $ 2,481,410      $ (30,348)          
Specific Ownership Tax 234,169         234,169         231,605         (2,564)            
Sales and Other Tax 1,640,925      1,640,925      2,240,201      599,276         

Licenses and Permits 230,620         230,620         237,589         6,969             
Charges for Services 473,750         473,750         1,758,823      1,285,073      
Intergovernmental 26,000           26,000           199,138         173,138         
Grant Income 140,786         140,786         7,926             (132,860)        
Investment Income 60                  60                  290,606         290,546         
Miscellaneous 23,340           23,340           383,976         360,636         

Total Revenues 5,281,408      5,281,408      7,831,274      2,549,866      

Expenditures
Current:
General Government 3,096,681      3,096,681      3,746,759      (650,078)        
Public Safety 2,563,525      2,563,525      3,574,369      (1,010,844)     
Public Works 451,320         451,320         459,217         (7,897)            
Health Services 210,000         210,000         258,586         (48,586)          

Capital Outlay 50,000           50,000           6,401             43,599           
Debt Service
Principal 264,000         264,000         265,000         (1,000)            
Interest and Fiscal Charges 319,600         319,600         319,600         -                     

Total Expenditures 6,955,126      6,955,126      8,629,932      (1,674,806)     

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (1,673,718)     (1,673,718)     (798,658)        875,060         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In -                     720,000         882,040         162,040         

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,673,718)     (953,718)        83,382           1,037,100      

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 1,802,721      1,802,721      1,802,721      -                     

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 129,003         $ 849,003         $ 1,886,103      $ 1,037,100      

Variance

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

(Negative)
Positive

Actual
Final

Budget
Original
Budget

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.    33
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Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ 12,859           $ 12,859           $ 12,754           $ (105)               
Specific Ownership Tax 1,470             1,470             1,409             (61)                 
Sales and Other Tax 129                129                1,367             1,238             

Licenses and Permits 24,750           24,750           38,372           13,622           
Charges for Services 95,000           95,000           194,001         99,001           
Intergovernmental 1,906,303      1,906,303      1,795,956      (110,347)        
Grant Income 18,337           18,337           -                     (18,337)          
Miscellaneous 64,479           64,479           90,613           26,134           

Total Revenues 2,123,327      2,123,327      2,134,472      11,145           
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Public Works 2,614,588      2,614,588      2,301,666 312,922         

Total Expenditures 2,614,588      2,614,588      2,301,666      312,922         

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (491,261)        (491,261)        (167,194)        324,067         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 450,000         450,000         450,000         -                     

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (41,261)          (41,261)          282,806         324,067         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 335,813         335,813         645,612         309,799         
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 294,552         $ 294,552         $ 928,418         $ 633,866         

Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Final

Variance
Positive

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Road and Bridge Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Original

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  34
150

Item 7f.



Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ 359,710         $ 359,710         $ -                     $ (359,710)        
County Revenues/Tax 37,000           37,000           -                     (37,000)          

Intergovernmental 1,939,842      1,939,842      2,997,156 1,057,314      

Total Revenues 2,336,552      2,336,552      2,997,156      660,604         
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Health Services 2,444,451      2,444,451      2,933,991 (489,540)        

Total Expenditures 2,444,451      2,444,451      2,933,991      (489,540)        
 

Net Change in Fund Balance (107,899)        (107,899)        63,165           171,064         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 279,292         279,292         516,949         237,657         
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 171,393         $ 171,393         $ 580,114         $ 408,721         

PositiveOriginal
Budget

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Department of Human Services Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Final
Budget

Variance

Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  35
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Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 2,661,199      $ 1,360,691      $ (1,300,508)     
Other -                     50,510           50,510           

Total Revenues 2,661,199      1,411,201      (1,249,998)     
 

Expenditures  
Capital Outlay 3,927,568      4,522,719 (595,151)        

Total Expenditures 3,927,568      4,522,719      (595,151)        
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (1,266,369)     (3,111,518)     (1,845,149)     

Other Financing Source (Uses)
Transfers Out -                     (140,000)        (140,000)        

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,266,369)     (3,251,518)     (1,985,149)     

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 2,369,341      2,369,341      -                     
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 1,102,972      $ (882,177)        $ (1,985,149)     

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Special Projects/Capital Expenditure Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance
Original and Positive

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  36
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Revenues
Taxes
Sales and Other Tax $ 950,000         $ 1,131,129      $ 181,129         

Charges for Services -                     74,538           74,538           
Grant Income 50,652           -                     (50,652)          
Miscellaneous -                     11,494           11,494           

Total Revenues 1,000,652      1,217,161      216,509         
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Public Safety 904,401         727,609 176,792         

Capital Outlay 30,000           60,071 (30,071)          

Total Expenditures 934,401         787,680         146,721         
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures 66,251           429,481         363,230         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers Out (550,000)        (550,000)        -                     

Net Change in Fund Balance (483,749)        (120,519)        363,230         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year (146,302)        1,114,543      1,260,845      
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (630,051)        $ 994,024         $ 1,624,075      

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Emergency Services Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance
Original and Positive

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  37
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Revenues
Grant Income $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     

Total Revenues -                     -                     -                     
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Public Safety 1,258,661      197,416         1,061,245      

Total Expenditures 1,258,661      197,416         1,061,245      

Other Financing Source (Uses)
Transfers In / (Out) 34,500           34,500           -                     

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (1,224,161)     (162,916)        1,061,245      

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 95,001           453,894         358,893         
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (1,129,160)     $ 290,978         $ 1,420,138      

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Disaster Recovery Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance
Original and Positive
Final Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  38
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

December 31, 2023 
 
 

39 

Note 1: Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 
 
Budgets 
 
Formal budgetary integration in all funds is employed as a management control device during the 
year.  Budgets are adopted for all governmental fund types on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units.  The County follows 
these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 
 

 Prior to October 15, the County Budget Officer submits to the Board of County 
Commissioners a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing the following 
January 1.  The budget is prepared by funds and departments, and includes actual data 
from the prior year, current year and budget year estimated revenues and expenditures. 

 Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 
 Prior to December 16, the budget is legally enacted, and the required mill levy is adopted 

through the passage of a resolution.  This resolution authorizes an appropriation at each 
fund level and lapses at year end.  The fund then becomes the level of control upon which 
expenditures cannot legally exceed appropriations. 

 All appropriations lapse at the end of the year. 
 Budgeted amounts in this report are as originally adopted or as amended by the Board of 

Commissioners during the year through supplemental appropriation.  
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Assets
Cash and Investments $ 148,393         $ (273,487)        $ 54,054           $ 37,311           $ 46,787           $ 69,190           $ 91,815           $ 37,960 $ 212,023         
Taxes Receivable -                     -                     -                     -                     140,838         -                     -                     -                     140,838         
Due from Other Funds -                     723,765         -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     723,765         

Total Assets $ 148,393         $ 450,278         $ 54,054           $ 37,311           $ 187,625         $ 69,190           $ 91,815           $ 37,960           $ 1,076,626      

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 5,282 -                     -                     8,947             (87,700)          -                     2,295             -                     (71,176)          
Accrued Salaries -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Due to Other Funds -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total Liabilities 5,282             -                     -                     8,947             (87,700)          -                     2,295             -                     (71,176)          

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes -                     -                     -                     -                     140,838         -                     -                     -                     140,838         

Fund Balance
Restricted for Emergency -                     -                     -                     -                     5,000             -                     -                     -                     5,000             
Committed 143,111         450,278         54,054           28,364           129,487         69,190           89,520           37,960           1,001,964      

 
Total Fund Balance 143,111         450,278         54,054           28,364           134,487         69,190           89,520           37,960           1,006,964      

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 148,393         $ 450,278         $ 54,054           $ 37,311           $ 187,625         $ 69,190           $ 91,815           $ 37,960           $ 1,076,626      

Total
Non-major

Fund
Parks and
Recreation Contingency

Huerfano County, Colorado
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2023

and Tourism
Lodging Tax

P.I.L.T.
Conservation
Trust Fund

Waster Transfer
Station Retirement

Federal Forest
Project

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.
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Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ 130,175         $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     $ 130,175         

Specific Ownership Tax -                     -                     -                     -                     13,628           -                     -                     -                     13,628           
Sales and Other Tax -                     -                     -                     -                     12,491           -                     -                     -                     12,491           

Licenses and Permits -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     117,779         -                     117,779         
Charges for Services 223,477         -                     -                     108,753         32,940           -                     -                     -                     365,170         
Intergovernmental -                     613,236         21,070           -                     -                     18,379           -                     -                     652,685         
Grant Income -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     40,000           -                     40,000           
Investment Income -                     -                     365                -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     365                
Miscellaneous -                     -                     1,300             2,824             -                     -                     -                     -                     4,124             

Total Revenues 223,477         613,236         22,735           111,577         189,234         18,379           157,779         -                     1,336,417      
Expenditures

Current:
General Government -                     38,405           15,084           16,462           173,333 -                     152,247         -                     395,531         
Public Safety -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     21,447 -                     -                     21,447           
Health Services -                     -                     -                     121,339         -                     -                     -                     -                     121,339         
Culture and Recreation 216,366 6,000             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     222,366         

Capital Outlay 3,148             22,120           -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     25,268           
 

Total Expenditures 219,514         66,525           15,084           137,801         173,333         21,447           152,247         -                     785,951         
 

Excess Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 3,963             546,711         7,651             (26,224)          15,901           (3,068)            5,532             -                     550,466         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In 100,000         -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     200,000 300,000         
Transfers Out -                     (884,500)        -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     (162,040) (1,046,540)     

Net Change in Fund Balance 103,963         (337,789)        7,651             (26,224)          15,901           (3,068)            5,532             37,960           (196,074)        

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 39,148           788,067         46,403           54,588           118,586         72,258           83,988           -                     1,203,038      

 
Fund Balance, End of Year $ 143,111         $ 450,278         $ 54,054           $ 28,364           $ 134,487         $ 69,190           $ 89,520           $ 37,960           $ 1,006,964      

Project and Tourism

Total

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Station
Non-major

FundP.I.L.T. Trust Fund Retirement
Parks and
Recreation Contingency

Huerfano County, Colorado
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Conservation Waste Transfer Federal Forest Lodging Tax

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  41
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Revenues
Transfer In $ 140,000         $ -                    $ (140,000)        
Miscellaneous 10,000           -                    (10,000)          

Total Revenues 150,000         -                    (150,000)        
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Rental/Real Estate 140,000         752,802         (612,802)        

Total Expenditures 140,000         752,802         (612,802)        
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures 10,000           (752,802)        (762,802)        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers In -                    -                    -                    

Net Change in Fund Balance 10,000           (752,802)        (762,802)        

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 102,142         102,142         -                    
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 112,142         $ (650,660)        $ (762,802)        

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Asset Management Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance
Original and Positive
Final Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report  42
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Revenues
Investment Income $ 8                    $ 10                  $ 2                    

Total Revenues 8                    10                  2                    
 

Expenditures  
Depreciation 11,008           4,778             6,230             

Total Expenditures 11,008           4,778             6,230             

Net Change in Fund Balance (11,000)          (4,768)            6,232             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year -                     17,822         17,822           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (11,000)          $ 13,054           $ 24,054           

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Correctional Facility Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Huerfano County, Colorado

Final Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance
Original and Positive

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  43
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Revenues
Charges for Services $ 105,500         $ 105,500         $ 104,718         $ (782)               
Miscellaneous 170                170                -                     (170)               

Total Revenue 105,670         105,670         104,718         (952)               
 

Expenses  
Monitoring, Security Services and Wages -                     -                     -                     -                     
Contractual Services 1,680             1,680             3,951             (2,271)            
Utilities 11,030           11,030           11,986           (956)               
Repairs and Maintenance 5,000             5,000             10,004           (5,004)            
Other Supplies and Expenses 4,637             4,637             92                  4,545             
Professional Fees 16,123           16,123           -                     16,123           
Miscellaneous Expenses 53,547           53,547           9,518             44,029           
Depreciation -                     -                     40,184           (40,184)          

 
Total Expenses 92,017           92,017           75,735           16,282           

Net Change in Fund Balance 13,653           13,653           28,983           15,330           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 10,959           10,959           1,363,715      1,352,756      
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 24,612           $ 24,612           $ 1,392,698      $ 1,368,086      

Original
Budget

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Gardner Water and Sewer Improvement District
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Final
Budget

Variance
Positive

Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  44
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Revenues
Transfers In $ 300,000         $ 300,000         $ 100,000 $ (200,000)        
Other 20,000           20,000           100,000 80,000           

Total Revenue 320,000         320,000         200,000         (120,000)        
 

Expenses  
Current:
Culture and Recreation 264,734         264,734         15,084 249,650         

 
Total Expenses 264,734         264,734         15,084           249,650         

 
Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures 55,266           55,266           184,916         129,650         

Net Change in Fund Balance 55,266           55,266           184,916         129,650         

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 39,148           39,148           788,067         748,919         
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 94,414           $ 94,414           $ 972,983         $ 878,569         

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Parks and Recreation Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report  45
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Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 550,000         $ 550,000         $ 613,236         $ 63,236           

Total Revenue 550,000         550,000         613,236         63,236           
 

Expenses  
Current:
General Government 12,500           12,500           38,405           (25,905)          
Culture and Recreation 6,000             6,000             6,000             -                     

Capital Outlay -                     -                     22,120           (22,120)          
 

Total Expenses 18,500           18,500           66,525           (48,025)          
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures 531,500         531,500         546,711         15,211           

Other Financing Source (Uses)
Transfers Out (834,500)        (834,500)        (884,500)        (50,000)          

Net Change in Fund Balance (303,000)        (303,000)        (337,789)        (34,789)          

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 245,986         245,986         788,067         542,081         
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (57,014)          $ (57,014)          $ 450,278         $ 507,292         

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

P.I.L.T Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report  46
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Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 14,000           $ 14,000           $ 21,070           $ 7,070             
Investment Income 32                  32                  365                333                
Other -                     -                     1,300 1,300             

Total Revenue 14,032           14,032           22,735           8,703             
 

Expenses  
Current:
Culture and Recreation 32,000           32,000           15,084 16,916           

 
Total Expenses 32,000           32,000           15,084           16,916           

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (17,968)          (17,968)          7,651             25,619           

Other Financing Source (Uses)
Transfers In -                     -                     -                     -                     

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (17,968)          (17,968)          7,651             25,619           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 6,273             6,273             46,403           40,130           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (11,695)          $ (11,695)          $ 54,054           $ 65,749           

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Conservation Trust Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report  47
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Revenues
Licenses and Permits $ 103,500         $ 103,500         $ 108,753         $ 5,253             
Miscellaneous 5                    5                    2,824             2,819             

Total Revenue 103,505         103,505         111,577         8,072             
 

Expenses  
Current:
General Government 27,574           27,574           16,462 11,112           
Health Services 78,300           78,300           121,339         (43,039)          
Capital Outlay 10,000           10,000           -                     10,000           

 
Total Expenses 115,874         115,874         137,801         (21,927)          

 
Excess Revenues Over
Net Change in Fund Balance (12,369)          (12,369)          (26,224)          29,999           

Other Financing Source (Uses)
Transfers Out (20,000)          (20,000)          -                     20,000           

Net Change in Fund Balance (32,369)          (32,369)          (26,224)          6,145             

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 31,433           31,433           54,588           23,155           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (936)               $ (936)               $ 28,364           $ 29,300           

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Water Transfer Station
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report  48
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Revenues
Taxes
Property Tax $ 136,837         $ 136,837         $ 130,175         $ (6,662)            
Specific Ownership Tax 10,000           10,000           13,628           3,628             
Sales and Other Tax -                     -                     12,491           12,491           
Charges for Services 40,000           40,000           32,940           (7,060)            

Miscellaneous 278                278                -                     (278)               

Total Revenue 187,115         187,115         189,234         2,119             
 

Expenses  
Current:
General Government 194,555         194,555         173,333 21,222           

 
Total Expenses 194,555         194,555         173,333         21,222           

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (7,440)            (7,440)            15,901           23,341           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 82,692           82,692           118,586         35,894           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 75,252           $ 75,252           $ 134,487         $ 59,235           

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Retirement Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  49
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Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 16,000           $ 16,000           $ 18,378 $ 2,378             

Total Revenue 16,000           16,000           18,378           2,378             
 

Expenses  
Current:
Public Safety 63,636           63,636           21,446           42,190           

 
Total Expenses 63,636           63,636           21,446           42,190           

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (47,636)          (47,636)          (3,068)            44,568           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year -                     -                     72,258           72,258           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (47,636)          $ (47,636)          $ 69,190           $ 116,826         

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Federal Forest Project Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  50
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Revenues
Transfer In $ -                     $ -                     $ -                     

Total Revenues -                     -                     -                     
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Professional Services 50,000           -                     50,000           

Total Expenditures 50,000           -                     50,000           
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures (50,000)          -                     50,000           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers -                     -                     -                     

Net Change in Fund Balance (50,000)          -                     50,000           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year -                     -                     -                     
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (50,000)          $ -                     $ 50,000           

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Housing Authority Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance
Original and Positive
Final Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  51
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Revenues
Lodging Tax $ 75,000           $ 75,000           $ 117,779 $ 42,779           
Grant Income 40,000           40,000           40,000           -                     

Total Revenue 115,000         115,000         157,779         42,779           
 

Expenses  
Current:
General Government 150,250         150,250         152,247         (1,997)            

 
Total Expenses 150,250         150,250         152,247         (1,997)            

 
Net Change in Fund Balance (35,250)          (35,250)          5,532             40,782           

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 17,709           17,709           83,988           66,279           
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ (17,541)          $ (17,541)          $ 89,520           $ 107,061         

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Variance

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Lodging Tax and Tourism Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  52
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Revenues
Transfer In $ 200,000         $ 200,000 $ -                     

Total Revenues 200,000         200,000         -                     
 

Expenditures  
Current:
Reserve -                     -                     -                     

Total Expenditures -                     -                     -                     
 

Excess Revenues Over
(Under) Expenditures 200,000         200,000         -                     

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers (Out) (162,040)        (162,040) -                     

Net Change in Fund Balance 37,960           37,960           -                     

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year -                     -                     -                     
 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 37,960           $ 37,960           $ -                     

Huerfano County, Colorado
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Contingency Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Variance
Original and Positive
Final Budget Actual (Negative)

See Accompanying Independent Auditor's Report.  53
170

Item 7f.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compliance Section 
 
 

171

Item 7f.



Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 

Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Board of County Commissioners 
Huerfano County, Colorado 
Walsenburg, Colorado 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, each 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of Huerfano County, Colorado (the County) as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the 
County, and have issued our report thereon dated December 31, 2024. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered 
the County’s internal control over financial reporting to determine the audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a 
timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the County’s financial statements will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 
Given these limitations, we did identify deficiencies in internal control as 
described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as 
items 2023-001 and 2023-002 that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
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Colorado 80110
TEL: 303.796.1000
FAX: 303.796.1001
www.HinkleCPAs.com

Office Locations:
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Frisco, CO
Tulsa, OK
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Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the County’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Huerfano County, 
Colorado’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for 
any other purpose.  

Englewood, Colorado 
December 31, 2024 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major 
Federal Program, Internal Control Over Compliance, and the 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by The 
Uniform Guidance 

Board of County Commissioners 
Huerfano County, Colorado 
Walsenburg, Colorado 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited Huerfano County, Colorado (the County) compliance with the 
types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB 
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
the County’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2023.  The 
County’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 
2023. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of 
our report.  

We are required to be independent of the County and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County’s 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
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Frisco, CO
Tulsa, OK
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the County’s federal programs.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and 
express an opinion on the County’s compliance based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists.  The risk of not detecting 
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered 
material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the County’s 
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the County’s compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the County’s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
County’s internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance (Continued) 
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance 
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our 
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to 
be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.   
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
County as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the County.  We issued 
our report thereon dated December 31, 2024, which contained unmodified opinions on those 
financial statements.  Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial 
statements that collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as 
required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
and certain additional procedures including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Englewood, Colorado 
December 31, 2024 
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Federal Pass-Through
Federal Grantor/Pass - Through Grantor Assistance Entity Identifying
Program Title Listing Number Number
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Passed Through Colorado Department of Human Services
SNAP Cluster
Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) 10.551 N/A $ 163                   $ 163                   
State Administrative Matching Grants for the
   Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 10.561 N/A 174,272            174,272            
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 174,435            174,435            

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
Direct
Economic Development Cluster
Economic Adjustment Assistance 11.307 N/A 203,012            203,012            

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Direct
Community Development Block Grant 14.228 N/A -                        -                        

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Direct
Airport Improvement Program 20.106 N/A -                        -                        

Passed Through Colorado Department of Transportation
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 105,111            105,111            
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 105,111            105,111            

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY
Direct
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 N/A -                        -                        
Local Assistance and Tribal Consistency Fund 21.032 N/A -                        99,324              

Passed Through Colorado Department of Human Services
Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 -                        -                        
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 -                        -                        
Total U.S. Department of Treasury -                        99,324              

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES
Passed Through Colorado Department of Human Services
Child Care Disaster Relief Cluster
Child Care and Development Block Grant 93.575 N/A 20,167              20,167              
Child Care Mandatory and Matching Funds
   of the Child Care and Development Fund 93.596 N/A 22,244              22,244              
Subtotal Child Care Disaster Relief Cluster 42,411              -                        
Guardianship Assistance 93.090 N/A -                        1,077                
Affordable Care Act (ACA) Personal Responsibility Education Program 93.092 N/A -                        6,818                
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 93.558 N/A -                        490,845            
Child Support Enforcement 93.563 N/A -                        123,921            
Low-Income Energy Assistance 93.568 N/A -                        1,819                
Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services Program 93.645 N/A -                        7,196                
Foster Care Title IV-E 93.658 N/A -                        293,650            
Adoption Assistance 93.659 N/A -                        73,921              
Social Services Block Grant 93.667 N/A -                        35,284              
Elder Abuse Prevention Interventions Program 93.747 N/A -                        1,359                
Medicaid Cluster
Medical Assistance Program 93.778 N/A 169,437            169,437            
Total U.S. Department of Human Services 211,848            1,247,738         

TOTAL SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS $ 694,406            $ 1,829,620         

Huerfano County, Colorado
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Cluster Expenditures
Federal

Total
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 
 

61 

Note 1: Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented in accordance with 
the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, using the modified 
accrual basis of accounting.  Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles 
contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or 
are limited as to reimbursement.  Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ 
from amounts presented in the financial statements.   
 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are generally reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  
Such expenditures are recognized following, as applicable, either the Cost Principles in Office of 
Management and Budget Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal 
Governments or the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance.  As such, certain types of 
expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 
 
 
Note 3: Subrecipients 
 
The County did not pass through any federal funds to sub-recipients during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. 
 
 
Note 4: De minimis Cost Rate 
 
The County has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under 
the Uniform Guidance. 
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
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Section I: Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
 
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAP): 
 

  Unmodified   Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 
 
The independent auditor’s report on internal control over financial reporting described: 
 

 Material weaknesses identified?                                                 Yes   No 
 
 Significant deficiencies?                                                              Yes  None reported 
 
 Noncompliance considered material to the financial statements noted? 

    Yes   No 
 
Federal Awards 
 
The independent auditor’s report on internal control over compliance for major federal awards 
programs disclosed: 
 

 Material weaknesses?                                                                 Yes   No 
 Significant deficiencies?                                                              Yes   None reported 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major federal programs: 
 

  Unmodified   Qualified   Adverse   Disclaimed 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?   Yes   No 
 
Identification of major federal program: 
 

Cluster/Program  ALN Number 
Temporary Assistance to Needy Family’s (TANF)  93.558 
Foster Care Title IV-E  93.658 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000. 
 
Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee as that term is defined in Uniform Guidance?   
   Yes   No 
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
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Section II: Financial Statement Findings 
 
Finding 2023-001 - The Huerfano County’s Department of Human Services (HC-DHS) - Internal 
Control over Cash Reconciliation. 
 
Criteria: Current accounting standards require an organization to have controls in place to ensure 
that cash accounts are reconciled properly. 
 
Condition: As a result of our audit procedures, HC-DHS did not reconcile their cash activity with 
the Treasurer’s office or with the County’s accounting department.   
 
Cause: The internal control processes for HS-DHS appear to be designed properly but failed to 
timely detect and correct and unrecorded cash transaction amount during their year-end closing 
cash reconciliations.  
 
Effect: Cash was materially understated, which adversely impacted the year-end financial 
statements.  
 
Questioned Costs: None reported.  
 
Repeat Finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend the HC-DHS add to their internal control process as a step to 
reconcile their cash ledger records with the Treasurer’s office  and the County’s accounting 
department on a monthly basis. 
 
Response: The HC-DHS agrees with the findings and has enhanced procedures to ensure all 
cash transactions are properly recorded and reconciled between the HC-DHS and the County 
Treasurer’s office. 
 
Finding 2023-002: - Huerfano County - Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
Criteria: Huerfano County is required to maintain systems of controls and have trained personnel 
with the knowledge and expertise concerning preparing and review of GAAP based financial 
statements. 
 
Condition: The County does not have sufficient internal controls over the preparation and review 
of the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) based on financial statements.  
Management may fail to prevent or detect financial statement errors. 
 
Cause: The County did not have the ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements 
according to GAAP.  
 
Effect: The County did not have the ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements.  
 
Questioned Costs: None reported. 
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
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Section II: Financial Statement Findings (Continued) 
 
Finding 2023-002: - Huerfano County - Internal Control over Financial Reporting (Continued) 
 
Repeat Finding: No. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend the County establish appropriate measures to ensure  closing 
entry completeness to their accounting system to be able to accurately produce financial 
statements. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions: The County agrees and is 
establishing procedures to their financial reporting processes necessary to be able to produce 
timely and accurate financial reporting. 
 
 
Section III: Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
There are no current year findings or questioned costs related to the major federal award 
programs which are required to be reported in accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516 of the 
Uniform Guidance. 
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Huerfano County, Colorado 
Schedule of Prior Year Findings 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
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I. Financial Statement Prior Audit Findings 
 
None. 
 
 
II. Findings Required to be Reported by the Uniform Guidance 
 
None. 
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State Compliance 
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Form Approved
The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  OMB No. 2125-0032

STATE:
COLORADO
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy): 12/23

This Information From The Records Of: Huerfano County Prepared By: Carl Young

A. Local B. Local C. Receipts from D. Receipts from
ITEM Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1. Total receipts available
2. Minus amount used for collection expenses
3. Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4. Minus amount used for mass transit
5. Remainder used for highway purposes

ITEM AMOUNT AMOUNT
A. Receipts from local sources: A. Local highway expenditures:

1. Local highway-user taxes 1. Capital outlay (from page 2) -$  
a. Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.) -$  2. Maintenance: 2,238,993.18$             
b. Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.) -$  3. Road and street services:
c. Total (a.+b.) -$  a. Traffic control operations -$  

2. General fund appropriations b. Snow and ice removal
3. Other local imposts (from page 2) 24,646.87$  c. Other 142,153.13$  
4. Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 302,738.45$  d. Total  (a. through c.) 142,153.13$  
5. Transfers from toll facilities 4. General administration & miscellaneous
6. Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes: 5. Highway law enforcement and safety

a. Bonds - Original Issues 6. Total  (1 through 5) 2,381,146.31$             
b. Bonds - Refunding Issues B. Debt service on local obligations:
c. Notes 1. Bonds:
d. Total (a. + b. + c.) -$  a. Interest

7. Total (1 through 6) 327,385.32$  b. Redemption
B. Private Contributions c. Total (a. + b.) -$  

C. Receipts from State government 2. Notes:
1,693,032.16$             a. Interest

D. Receipts from Federal Government b. Redemption
27,837.12$  c. Total (a. + b.) -$  

E. Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 2,048,254.60$             3. Total  (1.c + 2.c) -$  
C. Payments to State for highways
D. Payments to toll facilities
E. Total expenditures (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 2,381,146.31$             

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A. Bonds (Total) -$  

1. Bonds (Refunding Portion) -$  
B. Notes (Total) -$  

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
645,612.00$  2,048,254.60$             2,381,146.31$             312,720.29$  -$  

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.06/2000)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE Excel (Next Page)
page 1

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I. DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES III. EXPENDITURES FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

ITEM

(from page 2)

(from page 2)

IV. LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)

V. LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE (RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS ONLY)
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STATE:
COLORADO
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
0

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:
a. Property Taxes and Assessments 15,851.69$  a. Interest on investments
b. Other local imposts: b. Traffic Fines & Penalties
1. Sales Taxes c. Parking Garage Fees
2. Infrastructure & Impact Fees 7,385.89$  d. Parking Meter Fees
3. Liens e. Sale of Surplus Property 61,675.50$  
4. Licenses f. Charges for Services 150,466.14$              
5. Specific Ownership &/or Other 1,409.29$  g. Other Misc. Receipts 90,596.81$  
6. Total (1. through 5.) 8,795.18$  h. Other

c. Total (a. + b.) 24,646.87$  i. Total (a. through h.) 302,738.45$              

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C. Receipts from State Government D. Receipts from Federal Government

1. Highway-user taxes (from Item I.C.5.) 1,662,046.16$           1. FHWA (from Item I.D.5.) -$  
2. State general funds 2. Other Federal agencies:
3. Other State funds: a. Forest Service 27,837.12$  

a. State bond proceeds b. FEMA
b. Project Match c. HUD
c. Motor Vehicle Registrations 30,986.00$  d. Federal Transit Administration
d. DOLA Grant e. U.S. Corps of Engineers
e. Other f. Other Federal ARPA
f. Total (a. through e.) 30,986.00$  g. Total (a. through f.) 27,837.12$  

4. Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 1,693,032.16$           3. Total (1. + 2.g) 27,837.12$  

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)
A.1.  Capital outlay:

a. Right-Of-Way Costs -$  
b. Engineering Costs -$  
c. Construction:

(1).  New Facilities -$  
(2).  Capacity Improvements -$  
(3).  System Preservation -$  
(4).  System Enhancement And Operation -$  
(5).  Total Construction (1)+(2)+(3)+(4) -$  -$  -$  

d. Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.4) -$  -$  -$  

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536
page 2

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

ITEM ITEM

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

ITEMITEM

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

III. EXPENDITURES FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

(Carry forward to page 1) 
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Special District Transparency Notice for ______________________________________________________________________   20___ 

Address and telephone 
number of district’s principal 
business office 

Name and telephone of 
manager or other primary 
contact person for district 

Email address of primary 
contact (Optional) 

District’s website address 
(Required if choosing to post meeting 
notices online per HB 19-1087)

Time and place designated for 
regular board meetings 
[per C.R.S. 32-1-903] 

Posting place designated for 
meeting Notice 
[per C.R.S. 24-6-402(2)(c)] 

Names and Contact 
Information of Board Members 

Check applicable boxes for a 
Board Member whose seat will be 
on the ballot at the next regular 

election. 

(1) Board Chair

Name: ___________________________
Contact Info:
____________________________________
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term  

(2) 

Name: ___________________________ 

Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

(3) 
Name: ______________________________ 
Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

(4)  
Name: ______________________________ 
Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

(5)  
Name: ______________________________ 
Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

For seven-member boards 

(6) 
Name: ______________________________ 
Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

(7) 
Name: ______________________________ 
Contact Info: 
____________________________________ 
This office included on next regular 
election ballot for a
Two-year term   Four-year term 

20___ SPECIAL DISTRICT 
“TRANSPARENCY NOTICE” 

Notice to Electors 32-1-809 C.R.S.

Legal Name of 
Special District: _________________________________________________________________________ 

This information must be provided1 annually to the eligible electors of the district between November 16 and January 15. 

25

Navajo Western Water District

705 Navajo Road
Walsenburg, CO 81089
(719) 738-3130

Mary Bonham
(719) 738-3130

office@nwwd.us
https://www.nwwd.us/
The second Thursday of each month at 1:00p.m. at 705 Navajo
Road, Walsenburg, CO 81089

District website and/or mailbox outside district office

David Rogers Gary Baldwin

Debra Palmisano Rick Williams

Dan Palmisano

Navajo Western Water District 25
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Special District Transparency Notice for ______________________________________________________________________   20___ 

Date of next regular election May ___, 20___ 

Self-nomination forms to be a candidate for district board member may be obtained from and should be 
returned to the Designated Election Official (or Board Chair or Secretary if no DEO). [per C.R.S. 1-13.5-303] 

Self-nomination forms for the next regular election must be received by the district by: 

___________ ___, 20___, no later than ___:___ PM. 

Applications for absentee voting or for permanent absentee voter status are available from and must be 
returned to the Designated Election Official. [per C.R.S. 1-13.5-1003] 

Designated Election Official: 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Address: 
___________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Phone: 
______________________ 

District election results will 
be posted on these websites: 

Department of Local Affairs 
https://dola.colorado.gov/lgis 

District Mill Levy 
______ mills, for collection in 20___ 

Total ad valorem tax revenue 
received in the previous year 
(note if unaudited or otherwise 
incomplete) 

$__________________ 

File copy of this Notice with: 

 Clerk and Recorder of each county in which the district is wholly or partially located

 Assessor of each county in which the district is wholly or partially located

 Treasurer of each county in which the district is wholly or partially located

 Board of commissioners of each county in which the district is wholly or partially located

 Governing body of any municipality in which the district is wholly located

 Division of Local Government

 District’s principal business office where it shall be available for public inspection

__________________________________________ 

1 Notice must be provided in one or more of the following manners: 
a) Mail Notice separately to each household where one or more eligible electors of the special district resides (Note:

Districts with overlapping boundaries may combine mailed Notices, so long as the information regarding each district is
separately displayed and identified);

b) Include Notice as a prominent part of a newsletter, annual report, billing insert, billing statement, letter, voter
information card or other Notice of election, or other informational mailing sent by the district to the eligible electors;

c) Post Notice on district’s official website (Note: You must also provide the Division of Local Government
(http://www.colorado.gov/dola) with the address of your district’s website in order to establish a link on the DLG’s
site. Please use our Contact Update form available on our website or by request.);

d) Post Notice on website of the Special District Association of Colorado (http://www.sdaco.org) (Note: Your district must
be an SDA member. Send Notice to SDA by mail or electronic transmission); or

e) For a special district with less than one thousand eligible electors that is wholly located within a county with a
population of less than thirty thousand, posting the Notice in at least three public places within the limits of the
special district and, in addition, posting a Notice in the office of the County Clerk and Recorder of the county in which
the special district is located. Such Notices shall remain posted until the Tuesday succeeding the first Monday of the
following May.

Dan Harper

202E. 5th Street, Walsenburg, CO 81089

719-259-1070
www.mtwaterandsan.com

7.85

 Approx. 38,878 as of 12/31/2024

Navajo Western Water District
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Upper Huerfano Fire 
Protection District 
Pursuant to section 32-1-809, Colorado Revised Statutes for Transparency 
Notices may be filed with Special District Association of Colorado. This 
information must be provided annually to the eligible electors of the 
district no later than January 15 of each year. 

*Note that some information provided herein may be subject to change 
after the notice is posted. 

District's Principal Business Office 
Company Upper Huerfano Fire Protection District 

Contact Sandra Jones 

Address PO Box 147, Gardner, CO 81040 

Phone 719-746-0140 

District's Physical Location 
Counties Huerfano 

1
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Regular Board Meeting Information 
Location Gardner Fire Station 

Address 25402 Highway 69, Gardner, Colorado 81040 

Day(s) 2nd Wednesday of the month. 

Time 3:00 P.M 

Posting Place for Meeting Notice 
Location Gardner Fire Station 

Address 25402 Hwy 69, Gardner, Colorado 81040 

Notice of Proposed Action to Fix or Increase 
Fees, Rates, Tolls, Penalties or Charges for 
Domestic Water or Sanitary Sewer Services 
Location 
Address PO Box147, Gardner, Colorado 81240 

Date 
Notice 
N/A 

2
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Current District Mill Levy 
Mills 6.983 

Ad Valorem Tax Revenue 
Revenue reported may be incomplete or unaudited as of the date this 
Notice was posted. 

Amount($) 145,710 

Date of Next Regular Election 
Date 05/06/2025 

Pursuant to 24-72-205 C.R.S 
The district's research and retrieval fee is per hour 

District Policy 

District contact information for open records request: 
Sandra K Jones 

Names of District Board Members 

Board President 

3
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Name LEWIS DE LAURA 

Contact Info lewisdelaura@gmail.com 

Election No, this office will not be on the next regular 
election ballot 

Board Member 2 
Name Mark Vialpando 

Contact Info mark.vialpando@gmail.com 

Election Yes, this office will be on the next regular election 
ballot 

Board Member 3 
Name Susan Dallaguardia 

Contact Info susandallaguardia@gmail.com 

Election Yes, this office will be on the next regular election 
ballot 

Board Member 4 
Name JAMES E FOWLER 

Contact Info 10zenzopa@gmail.com 

Election No, this office will not be on the next regular 
election ballot 

Board Member 5 
Name Paul Hendrych 

Contact Info pjh19640702@gmail.com 

4
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Election Yes, this office will be on the next regular election 
ballot 

Board Candidate Self-Nomination Forms 
Any eligible elector of the special district who desires to be a 
candidate for the office of special district director must file a self-
nomination and acceptance form or letter with the designated 
election official. 

Deadline for Self-Nomination Forms 
Self-nomination and acceptance forms or letters must be filed not less 
than 67 days before the date of the regular election. 

District Election Results 
The district's current election results will be posted on the website of 
the Colorado Secretary of State (www.sos.state.co.us) and the website 
indicated below, if any. 

Website website not provided 

Permanent Mail-In Voter Status 

Absentee voting and Permanent absentee voter status (formerly 
Permanent Mail-In voter status): Where to obtain and return forms. 
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Gardner Fire Station 25402 Highway 69 Gardner, CO 81040 

Applications for absentee voting or for permanent absentee voter 
status are available from and must be returned to the Designated 
Election Official. 

Notice Completed By 
Name 
Sandra Jones 

Company/District 
UPFPD 

Title 
Admin Assistant 

Email 
uhfpdgardner@gmail.com 

Dated 
12/08/2024 

6
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County Technical Services, Inc.
Technical Updates are available online at ctsi.org

800 N Grant St, Suite 400, Denver, CO 80203
(303) 861-0507  |  Fax: (303) 861-2832

TECHNICAL UPDATE
Volume 28 Number 53  |  December 31, 2024

UNDERSTANDING WORKPLACE POSTERS:  
STATE AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS
The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) and the State of Colorado require workplaces, 
including local governments, to provide employees with posted notices. Lists of notices 
can be found online and often downloaded for free.

STATE OF COLORADO
The State of Colorado requires employers to display certain federal and state law posters 
to ensure employees know their rights and responsibilities. These posters cover essential 
topics such as Minimum Wage Orders, Anti-Discrimination protections, Employment Security, 
Workers’ Compensation, Notice to Employer of Injury, Paydays, Pregnancy Accommodations, 
and more. Employers can find these posters listed at https://cdle.colorado.gov/posters. 

These posters summarize labor laws and regulations but should not be considered 
comprehensive. For detailed information, rules, fact sheets, translations, questions, or to file 
complaints, employees and employers can contact the Division of Labor Standards & Statistics 
at ColoradoLaborLaw.gov or via email at cdle_labor_standards@state.co.us.

Additionally, every Colorado employer is required to notify employees about the FAMLI 
(Family and Medical Leave Insurance) Program and display the required program notice 
prominently in the workplace. The program ensures that most Colorado employees become 
eligible for paid leave after earning at least $2,500 in wages subject to FAMLI premiums 
within approximately a year. Individuals and families can sign up for updates directly from the 
Division of Labor Standards & Statistics.

Employers should note that some state-required posters may not specify their applicability 
to local governments. This can vary, so it’s advisable to consult with an HR representative or 
county attorney to clarify applicable definitions and requirements.

FEDERAL LEVEL
At the federal level, the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) mandates that specific notices be 
displayed in workplaces to inform employees of their rights under federal statutes and 
regulations. These notices include topics such as the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), the 
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO), and more.

The DOL provides free electronic copies of required posters, some available in multiple 
languages, at https://www.dol.gov/general/topics/posters. Posters of particular interest to 
federal contractors are also available on this site.

WHAT THIS MEANS  
FOR COUNTIES
Employers are encouraged to review 
state and federal poster requirements 
regularly to ensure compliance. Staying 
updated on changes can help avoid 
penalties and ensure employees have 
access to accurate and timely labor law 
information. Generally, a poster should 
be posted in the lunchroom, general 
meeting rooms, or places where all 
employees can view it for each physical 
location or building in which county 
employees or contractors report. It is a 
straightforward violation for an auditor 
to check, so take notice of this critical 
requirement. For more information, 
contact CTSI at (303) 861-0507.
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County Technical Services, Inc.
Technical Updates are available online at ctsi.org

800 Grant St., Suite 400, Denver, CO 80203
(303) 861-0507  |  Fax: (303) 861-2832

TECHNICAL UPDATE
Volume 29 Number 2  |  January 14, 2025

THE POWER OF POOLING FOR COUNTY SUCCESS

WHAT THIS MEANS  
FOR COUNTIES
Counties continue to seek protection 
for their organizations from rising 
claims costs brought on by natural 
disasters, pandemics, social inflation, 
and more. Membership in CTSI 
gives Colorado counties leverage to 
negotiate favorable premiums and 
coverage in this challenging market. 
For more information, please contact 
CTSI at (303) 861-0507.

POOLING AND COST CONTROL
Pooling gives CTSI members the ability to use their collective buying power to negotiate from a 
position of strength in often uncertain insurance markets. Member involvement in the management 
and operation of CTSI and the pools produces a responsive and adaptive organization that excels at 
controlling costs. We regularly provide our members with renewal rates below the national average, 
consult with members about increased limits when needed, and provide coverage for new functions 
as required by members. Our commitment to continuous improvement means that we are constantly 
investigating ways to reduce the cost of insurance coverage and ancillary services for members.  
Our centralized purchasing power at a much larger volume has helped significantly control member 
costs over acquiring services and functions independently.

ABOUT CHP
County Health Pool (CHP) provides employee health benefits. CHP is committed to cost control, 
well-designed benefit programs, and efficient claims administration. It is the only county-owned 
health plan provider in Colorado with benefits, contribution rates, and coverages determined by 
representatives from Member counties. Learn More.

ABOUT CWCP
County Workers’ Compensation Pool (CWCP) provides counties with statutory workers’ compensation 
coverage, a no-fault system that means the employee doesn’t have to prove that the employer is 
at fault to receive benefits. CWCP Member counties employ nearly 17,000 people with a payroll of 
approximately $530 million per year. Members earn equity in funds and equity is retained as a safety 
net to offset the swings in the insurance market. Learn More.

ABOUT CAPP
Colorado Counties Casualty and Property Pool (CAPP) protects the assets of counties throughout 
Colorado through broad coverage, risk management, and sound fiscal management. CAPP excels in 
loss control and claims management. Members earn equity in funds that are not used to pay losses. 
That pool equity is retained as a safety net to offset the swings in the insurance market. Learn More.

County Technical Services, Inc. (CTSI) has served Colorado counties for 40 years. County commissioners first envisioned CTSI as a way to empower 
counties by creating a collective purchasing pool. The County Health Pool (CHP) was founded in 1984 with the goal of lowering and stabilizing 
health insurance premiums.

The success of this pool led to the creation of the County Workers’ Compensation Pool (CWCP) and the Colorado Counties Casualty and Property 
Pool (CAPP) to address challenging market conditions in those areas, as well.

OUR SERVICES
There are five components to CTSI:
•	 County Health Pool (CHP) which helps meet employee health 

benefits needs.
•	 County Workers’ Compensation Pool (CWCP) which meets workers’ 

compensation insurance coverage needs.
•	 Colorado Counties Casualty and Property Pool (CAPP) which meets 

property, vehicle, and liability coverage needs.

•	 800 Grant Street Office Condominium Owners Association which 
owns and manages the common elements at the CTSI headquarters 
in downtown Denver.

•	 CTSI manages and employs personnel to administer the four  
above entities, as well as provide consulting, education,  
and training services.
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County Technical Services, Inc.
Technical Updates are available online at ctsi.org

800 N Grant St, Suite 400, Denver, CO 80203
(303) 861-0507  |  Fax: (303) 861-2832

TECHNICAL UPDATE
Volume 29 Number 1  |  January 7, 2025

CYBERSECURITY INSIGHTS: PROTECTING INFORMATION

The guiding principle is simple: if a combination of data can uniquely identify an individual and 
includes non-public details, it qualifies as PII. It must be treated with utmost care and security. 

Examples of PII in Practice 
Consider the following scenario: John Smith was born on January 1, 1965. Which of the following 
examples contains PII?

A. John Smith – DOB 1/1/1965
B. John S. – DOB 1/1/1965
C. John Smith – DOB 1/1/xxxx

The correct answer is A. While “John S.” or a partial date of birth may not individually identify 
someone, the full name and complete birthdate do, making it classified as PII.

THE CONSEQUENCES OF NEGLECTING PII PROTECTION
Failing to safeguard sensitive information can have severe consequences, including:

HOW YOU CAN HELP PROTECT SENSITIVE INFORMATION
Every employee has a role to play in safeguarding PII. Here are some best practices to follow:

WHAT THIS MEANS  
FOR COUNTIES
Regular cybersecurity updates are vital 
to an effective security strategy. They 
help keep counties informed, vigilant, 
and prepared to respond to threats. 
CTSI recommends counties implement 
these essential cybersecurity controls 
to help manage their cyber exposures. 
This will safeguard and reduce digital 
vulnerabilities at the county level and 
assist in obtaining coverage with higher 
limits and lower premiums for CAPP.  
For more information, contact CTSI at 
(303) 861-0507.

In today’s digital age, cybersecurity is a critical concern for counties of all sizes. As cyber threats become increasingly sophisticated, counties 
must stay vigilant and proactive in protecting their sensitive data. CTSI stays informed of evolving threats and provides quarterly cybersecurity 
updates on the latest concerns, best practices, and security protocols. This knowledge can significantly reduce the risk of a successful cyber 
attack and promote a security-first culture.

WHAT IS PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION?
Sensitive information is considered privileged when its compromise—through alteration, corruption, loss, misuse, or unauthorized disclosure—could 
seriously harm an individual or organization. The highest level of protection must be provided to such information to mitigate risks and safeguard trust. 

For data protection purposes, Personally Identifiable Information (PII) is any instance of an individual’s first name (or first initial), last name,  
and any of 29 additional confidential items. These items are non-public and can be used to identify a specific individual uniquely.

Examples of Additional Confidential Items
•	 Social Security numbers
•	 Credit card or debit card numbers (including expiration dates)
•	 Date or place of birth

•	 Wage and salary information
•	 Vehicle identifiers, including plates and driver’s license
•	 Medical history or health information

•	 Legal Fines: Non-compliance with data 
protection laws can result in hefty penalties.

•	 Increased Operating Costs: Data breaches 
often lead to expensive mitigation measures, 
investigations, and system upgrades.

•	 Loss of Confidence: Breaches erode trust and 
can damage an organization’s reputation.

•	 Enhanced Regulation: Frequent data 
breaches may result in stricter governmental 
oversight and new compliance requirements.

•	 Store Securely: Always use encrypted systems 
or locked storage for physical records.

•	 Share Minimally: Only share PII with 
authorized personnel, when necessary.

•	 Dispose Properly: Use secure methods, such 
as shredding or data deletion, to dispose of PII.

•	 Stay Vigilant: Be aware of phishing attempts 
and other tactics to extract sensitive data.
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